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$

100M

Annualised Gross
Merchandise
Value (GMV)

58%

Uplift in Total
Customers

$

12.2M

In Total Income –
up 24% on FY20

41%

Growth in
total merchant
stores to 3,416

+47%

Growth in
Receivables
to $69.4 million

Record year across all metrics and
well‑positioned for future growth
“Looking back over the past 12 months,
we are extremely proud of the progress
made on our Growth strategy whilst
continuing to support our merchants, partners
and customers through the challenges
of COVID‑19 trading restrictions.”
Co‑CEOs Myles & Piers Redward
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Chairman’s
Address

Dear Shareholders,
I am delighted to present to you Payright Limited’s Annual
Report for the year ending 30 June 2021, the Company’s
first Annual Report as an ASX listed Company.
Having commenced operations in 2016, Payright is now
an established participant in the fast growing Buy Now
Pay Later (BNPL) industry and specialises in providing
merchants in Australia and New Zealand with both
in‑store and online solutions for the benefit of their
customers, with a focus towards higher‑value and more
considered purchase items as opposed to the lower
value and more impulse‑driven transactions generally
associated with the BNPL sector.
Despite challenging market conditions resulting from
COVID‑19 trading restrictions, which has significantly
impacted many “bricks and mortar” retail outlets and
“face to face” service sectors, Payright made considerable
progress during FY21 achieving meaningful growth
across all key performance metrics (gross merchandise
value, customer numbers, merchant numbers, and gross
receivables) collectively driving income growth of 24%
to $12.2 million.
During FY21, the Company increased the balance of its
gross receivables book from $47.2 million to $69.4 million,
and with Payright offering flexible transaction terms of
up to 60 months, fee income will continue to be generated
on the current receivables book well into future
financial years.
Following the Company’s successful initial public
offering, Payright has continued to strengthen its brand
and grow its customer numbers via a range of creative
marketing campaigns, product extensions, and
technology enhancements. These initiatives, while
adding to the customer experience, have also led to
the establishment of new and exciting merchant
partnerships, payment platform access arrangements,
and a pipeline of opportunities which I am confident
will deliver meaningful increases in all Payright’s key
performance metrics in FY22 and beyond.

Likewise, Payright is committed to ensuring the right
people are in place to execute on the Company’s
ambition of being the “provider of choice” for higher value
BNPL purchases. On this front, we were delighted to have
recently announced the appointment of Mr David Leach
to the role of Chief Financial Officer of the Company.
David brings extensive banking and financial services
experience, gained both domestically and in the USA,
and will add proven capability and rigour to Payright
as it continues to deliver on its strategic ambitions.
On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank my fellow
directors and indeed all our valued team members for
their hard work and support during the year and the way
they have responded to life as a listed company. I would
particularly like to thank Myles and Piers Redward, our
Joint‑CEOs and Payright founders, for their leadership
over the last 12 months, and for their passion and
commitment to see Payright achieve its potential.
I would also like to take this opportunity to welcome the
many new shareholders to Payright and to thank you for
your ongoing support and confidence. The Board has a
strong focus on delivering value to our shareholders, and
while being conscious that the competitive landscape
and COVID‑19 related challenges have weighed somewhat
on the Company’s share price performance since our
ASX listing, we recognise the adoption of BNPL across
higher value segments remains relatively low and
represents a significant opportunity for the Company.
I am confident that Payright is well placed to take full
advantage of the opportunities presented to us in the
years ahead, and look forward to sharing this exciting
journey with you all.

Paul Cowan
Non‑Executive Director – Chairman
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Co‑CEOs
Report
Income ($MMs)
3.3
2.9
2.6

2.6

Jun 20

Sep 20

2.7
Dec 20

Mar 21

Jun 21

GMV ($MMs)

Dear Fellow Shareholders,
We are pleased to provide our first annual report
as a publicly traded company as joint‑CEOs and
Co‑Founders of Payright. Looking back on the
last 12 months, we are extremely proud of our
people and the progress we have made in
continuing to grow and develop as a specialist in
larger BNPL transactions in Australia and New
Zealand and building sustainable long‑term value
to our shareholders. We have achieved a huge
amount this year: an IPO and successful listing
on the ASX; record breaking GMV results and the
opening of our NZ office; our active role in helping
to develop the industry code of conduct; and new
technology releases and impactful marketing
campaigns, which enabled big merchant wins
and a rapidly growing customer base.
We entered key strategic partnerships with
Masport and Service Seeking, as part of our
strategy to actively pursue sectors in the home
improvement and outdoor living sectors and
access new pools of merchants. Payright also
signed a new partnership with Mint Payments
which was the first of its kind for our business and
will play an important role in the evolution of our
payment ecosystem, particularly in enabling over
7,000 merchants to access our BNPL solution.
Against this backdrop, we delivered FY21
results that exceeded the objectives we had
set for the business at the time of listing
across all key metrics.

26.1
20.6

22.2

16.1
11.2
Jun 20

Sep 20

Dec 20

Mar 21

Jun 21

Gross Receivables ($MMs)
69.4
61.0
54.7
47.2
Jun 20

49.6
Sep 20

Dec 20

Mar 21

Jun 21

Customers ('000s)
53.4
47.5

33.9
Jun 20

37.5

Sep 20

42.3

Dec 20

Mar 21

Jun 21

Total Merchant Stores (#)
3,416
3,124
2,874
2,415

Jun 20

4

2,632

Sep 20

Dec 20

Mar 21

Jun 21

“Over the course of the coming year, we will continue
carving out a sustainable and scalable position in
the growing BNPL market. We are energised
by the early results.”

Technology & Products

Looking ahead

We continue to enhance our technology platform and
features in line with the data driven insights derived
from our merchants, partners and customers.

Over the course of FY22 we will continue to build on
the strong growth we have experienced across all key
measures of performance in FY21. With the majority
of BNPL players focused on the ‘Pay in 4’ micro‑ticket
sub‑$1,000 end of the market, there is significant
opportunity with considerably less competition across
larger ticket ‘Pay in More’ transactions. Partnerships
remain a critical element of Payright’s strategy, and
we will continue to differentiate by offering customers
more flexible payment arrangements, and an ongoing
commitment to further innovation across all our
product offerings.

To bolster our capabilities, Payright has increased
headcount within the Technology team with a focus
on streamlining user experience as well as executing
on projects. In January 2021 Payright deployed its
new merchant and customer application portal which
dramatically enhanced the customer onboarding
experience for both online and instore applications.
In March 2021, Payright added Bill Smoothing to the
company’s offering of BNPL services by allowing
consumers to spread the cost of their utility bills, council
rates, vehicle registration, and car and home insurance
premiums up to $1,000 over a three‑month term.
This has allowed prospective customers to engage
directly with Payright and is emerging as an important
enhancement to our product offering.

Our People
During the year, we focused on building capability,
driving performance and increasing engagement among
our teams. Our people remain the key driver in delivering
our plan, which is why we place such significant
importance on pulse check surveys to monitor employee
engagement and check in with the team regularly during
company-wide ‘town halls’. With the backdrop of the
Global Pandemic we have also paid particular attention
to the mental health and well‑being of our people, and
with the assistance of our Employee Assistance Program
(EAP) provider, have facilitated multiple sessions focusing
on resilience and mental well‑being.

What we have achieved this year gives us confidence
for the future and we are energised by the early results.
We would like to take this opportunity to thank the
Payright team and our partners who made our first year
as a listed company, a very successful and productive
year. Their passion, commitment and energy has been
integral to our progress, and we are excited to see our
plans come alive in the months and years ahead.
Thank you also to our loyal shareholders for their ongoing
support and belief. We look forward to executing on our
strategy and delivering value on your investment in us.
Yours sincerely,

Myles Redward
Piers Redward
Co‑Founders & Co‑Chief Executive Officers
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Growth Metrics
2020–21

Accelerating growth
Strong Receivables growth with
continued focus on Retail and
Home Improvement verticals and
expansion into New Zealand.

Income ($MMs)
12.2

Total customers as at June 30 2021
up 58% on pcp to ~53,000.

3.4

Merchant Store growth continues
with +1,000 new stores in FY21.

FY19

FY20

90%

CAGR*

9.8

FY21

Total Customers ('000s)

GMV* ($MMs)
85.0
68.3

53,489

43%

CAGR*

84%

CAGR*

33,947

41.5
15,780

FY19

FY20

FY21

FY19

FY20

Gross Receivables ($MMs)

Total Merchant Stores (#)
3,416
CAGR*

1,266

FY20

FY21

FY19

FY20

63%

CAGR*

47.2
26.0

*G
 MV = Gross Merchandise Value, CAGR = Compound Annual Growth Rate

6

69.4

64%

2,415

FY19

FY21

FY21

Delivering on strategic
growth outcomes
In the six months post the December 2020 IPO, the Payright team has delivered on the
three key strategic objectives illustrated in the Prospectus for FY21: Developing strategic
partnerships in target industries; growing customer awareness, retention and
acquisition; and investing in our technology.

+1000
new merchant
stores in FY21

Household names and industry leaders join our growing
list of key merchant and technology partnerships.
• +1,000 new merchant stores in FY21.
• Leading enterprise merchant groups in key target verticals
join the platform including Stratco, Australian Outdoor Living,
Bev Marks, IntoBlinds, Solar Run and Rapid Tune and more.
• Month one of FY22 saw key strategic partnerships with
Masport, Service Seeking and Mint Payments.

6 x increase in brand awareness, and launching our
first product in our direct to consumer channel.
• Our first national Masterbrand campaign saw brand
awareness reach new heights, with a 6 x increase in
brand awareness, and a 26% uplift in ad recall.
• Our B2C channel was launched with Bill Smoothing –
a product to enable consumers to spread the cost of
their household bills over up to 3 months, with more
B2C products to follow in FY22.

Complete UX overhaul creates frictionless transactions,
plus we introduce the Payright App.

26%
uplift in
ad recall

• All Payright products on the platform received a complete
user experience uplift increasing functionality, and creating
a faster, seamless checkout experience.
• The much anticipated Payright app was launched, enabling
direct consumer sign up and pre‑approval, 2‑step QR code
checkout for merchants, and will enable future product
releases including our ‘tap‑and‑go’ card functionality.
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Growth Metrics
2020–21 (continued)

Leading merchants and
partners join Payright’s
growing portfolio
Strategic relationships gained with ANZ leaders
in Payright’s key verticals.
Payright’s ongoing growth in signing targeted merchant
partners continues in FY21:
• Home improvement retailers Stratco, Australian Outdoor
Living, Into Blinds and NZ electrical retailer Appliance Plus
• Onboarding of 61 SolarRun franchises across Australia
• Early FY22 flagship partnerships announced with outdoor
equipment manufacturer Masport and trade services
marketplace Service Seeking
• July 21 Payright partners with payments provider
Mint Payments

3,
4
16
merchants
8

+41%
Merchant store
count grew to
3,416 in FY21.
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Business
Model

A business model
built to deliver
A business model designed to deliver
growth by driving business for merchants,
and offering flexibility to customers.
Merchant Fees
Charged as a percentage of the ticket
price and varies with term.
For example:
6 months 40% deposit, <$1,500 = 6.74%
24 months 10% deposit, >$3,000 = 11.95%

Customer Fees

64%

36%

Merchant Fees

9%
10%
17%

Establishment Fees
Account Keeping Fees
Processings Fees

Customer Fees
• Establishment Fee:
Applied to all new customer
applications and varies with
loan term. From $0 to $89.95.
• Repeat Purchase Fee:
$0 to $19.95.
• Account Keeping Fee:
$3.50 pro rata if fortnightly
payment frequency.
• Payment Processing Fee:
$2.95 charged whenever
a repayment is made
(usually fortnightly).

10

Practical example: Home
Improvement vertical
Transaction Example
Main Sale

2,000

$

RRP Maintained
HANDI‑HILANDER
GARDEN SHED

Customer Benefit
Upgrading their purchase
without the compromise or
financial burden, by spreading
the cost over time.

191.37

$

2,000

$

Per Fortnight

& Upsell

400

$

Higher Margin Items
7 DRAWER ROLLER
TOOL CHEST

Merchant Benefit
Upsell opportunity to increase
transaction size. Allows for
higher margin items to be
bundled into the sale.

400

$

Creating Win/Win
outcomes for
merchants and
customers.
Payright Limited | Annual Report 2021
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Business
Model (continued)

A product designed
for bigger ticket purchases
Our flexible solutions have been created
and evolved to serve the different needs
of businesses across our key verticals.

12

In person

Pre‑approval

A tool designed
to integrate into the
consultative sales
process as conversion
lever.

Powered by the Payright
App, pre‑approval takes
only minutes. Simplified
QR code checkout
enables a seamless
path to purchase.

Online

Quotes & Invoices

Seamless UX enables
a quick and simple
application and checkout,
increasing conversion for
high‑value eCommerce
transactions.

Quick application links
integration on quotes and
invoices to land the job,
and encourage quick,
easy payment.

Our foundations
Lending decisions that are right
for our customers

An interest free product with flexible
repayment frequency and a fair,
accessible and transparent fee structure.

A robust
underwriting approach
and sophisticated credit
decisioning algorithm
that includes ID
verification, and credit
checks and bank
statements where
appropriate.

A business model designed
to drive growth by adding
value to our merchants, partners
and customers, not by
charging unfair late fees.

A founding and accredited
member of the AFIA led BNPL
Code of Practice, designed to uplift
and codify the practices
of BNPL providers across the industry
and deliver better outcomes
for consumers.

Customer‑centric hardship and dispute resolution
management to ensure the right customer outcomes
whilst maintaining performance of the loan book.
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Carving Out
Our Niche

A sustainable & scalable model
Payright is an established player in the rapidly growing
BNPL industry, currently operating in ANZ.
We offer flexible merchant and consumer solutions
including in‑store credit, point of sale and online BNPL
payment options.
Flexible payment terms tailored to suit the customer’s
needs – Customers have the ability to select
a repayment frequency to suit their circumstances,
with terms ranging from 2 months up to 60 months
for larger purchases.
Payright specialises in higher‑value purchases –
Transaction sizes up to $20,000 with an Average
Transaction Value of ~$3,000.
In underserviced sectors – Higher value purchases
are underserviced by the BNPL sector representing
a key point of differentiation amongst other
BNPL providers.

1. ABS, 8501.0 ‑ Retail Trade, Australia, June 2020 – Clothing, footwear and personal accessory retailing, Department Stores
and Other retailing. 2. IBIS World Australia Market Research Cosmetic and Toiletry Retailing in Australia G4271b ; IBIS World
Australia Market Research Health Services in Australia Q8400 – excluding Public and Private hospitals. 3. IBIS World
Australia Market Research Education and Training in Australia – Excluding Pre‑school, Private school and Government
schools. 4. ABS, 8501.0 – Retail Trade, Australia, June 2020 – Household goods retailing. 5. IBIS World Australia Market
Research Photographic Equipment Retailing in Australia G4221b 6. IBIS World Australia Market Research Motor Vehicle
Parts Retailing in Australia G3921 and IBIS World Australia Market Research Motor Vehicle Engine and Parts Repair and
Maintenance in Australia. Industry sizes are an estimate of the broad category. Exact sub‑sectors targeted by Payright may
vary from the industry categories referenced in the sourced industry size data.
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Portfolio mix by GMV FY21
Retail

Home Improvement

ATV: ~$5,000
Average term: 30 months
GMV Contribution: 35%
Industry size: $113b1

ATV: ~$6,800
Average term: 46 months
GMV Contribution: 13%
Industry size $59b4

Health & Beauty

Photography

ATV: ~$1,600
Average term: 17 months
GMV Contribution: 8%
Industry size: $48b2

ATV: ~$2,600
Average term: 18 months
GMV Contribution: 20%
Industry size: $1b5

Education

Automotive

ATV: ~$3,400
Average term: 25 months
GMV Contribution: 20%
Industry size: $49b3

ATV: ~$2,800
Average term: 19 months
GMV Contribution: 4%
Industry size: $17b6

Payright Limited | Annual Report 2021
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Driving Business
Growth

Building momentum:
Revenue growth accelerating

16

30+ days Arrears (% of Loan Book Receivables)

Quarterly Fee Income Trajectory

3.96%

3.3

3.15%

+14%

3.36%

2.77%

2.91%

Dec 20

Mar 21

Jun 21

1.58%

1.64%

1.64%

Dec 20

Mar 21

Jun 21

2.9
2.6

2.6

Jun 20

Sep 20

2.7

Dec 20

Mar 21

Jun 21

Jun 20

Estimated Income Recognition for FY21 GMV

Sep 20

Losses / GMV

85M

~65%

FUTURE
REVENUE 1

1.12%

1.12%

Jun 20

Sep 20

~35%
GMV (FY21)

Income Recognised
(FY21)

Income to be
Recognised (FY22+)

Future income

Credit Quality

• With income recognised over the life of the loan,
four consecutive quarters of GMV growth will see
the majority of fee income from lending activity
in FY21 recognised in subsequent years.

• Despite a 45bps increase vs. March 2021, arrears
as at June 2021 of 3.36% were 60bps lower than
June 2020.

• Revenue growth accelerating in the 2nd half of FY21,
with June quarterly revenue up 14% on prior quarter
positioning the company well for continued
momentum and strong revenue growth into FY22.
• Payright’s higher average transaction values and
longer terms drive strong gross revenue yield of
14.3% of GMV for FY21.

• Robust internal underwriting measures and
collections practices have successfully managed
the balance between maintaining and protecting
the quality of the loan book and accommodating
COVID impacted customer hardship.
• This arrears position is well below the provision for
Expected Credit Losses, which was 6.9% of the Gross
Receivables as at 30 June 2021, down from 8.4%
in prior comparable period due to improvement in
underlying credit quality of the receivables book.
• Underlying losses relating to ‘business as usual’
credit defaults of 1.64% at June 2021 remain
relatively flat since December 2020.

1 Income to be recognised assumes the ongoing performance
of loans to their prescribed term. Actual performance may vary.
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Building Momentum
Across the Business

Customer Demographic
More considered purchase items and larger transaction
sizes attract lower risk customers.

Age

Credit Score

• Stronger weighting towards Gen X and Gen Y

• Majority of loan volume attributed to Customers
with strong credit scores representing very low
default risk

• 71% of loan volume attributed to Customers
older than 35

• 88% of loan volume written is attributed
to Customers with an Equifax Bureau credit
score greater than 500.

6%
32%

12%
34%

23%

27%

39%

18‑24

25‑34

31%

34‑49

50+

401‑500

501‑600

601‑700

700+

*Customer demographics from July 2020 to June 2021 volume as provided by the customer on application.
1. A credit score is a number between 0 and 1200 that measures a customer’s creditworthiness. The higher the Equifax score, the better the credit profile
and the lower the credit risk. Payright believes that a score of 500 is an acceptable level of risk given the nature of the transactions and applicants.
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Employment Status

Residential Status

• 74% of loan volume attributed to
Customers identified as having stable/
permanent employment.

• Customers identified as homeowners represent
the largest segment.

5%

16%

5%

10%
10

Full time

50%

64%

%

40%

Part time

Self Employed

Other

Home Owner

Live with family

Renting

Other

Payright Limited | Annual Report 2021
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Strategy
& Outlook

A genuine
need for a
BNPL offering
for higher
value items

55%

of customers want
a BNPL payment
option for purchases
online over $1,000*

42%

With the majority of BNPL players
focused on the micro‑ticket, sub‑$1,000
end of the market, there is significant
opportunity and less competition across
middle ticket transactions.

say having a BNPL
option for purchases
over $1,000 would
help them with
budgeting*

Purchase Type

$20,000

Transactional

Purchase Type

Considered

* Payright commissioned survey of 500 consumers conducted by research firm ‘The Interpreters’ in July 2020.
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Well‑positioned for change
in the dynamic BNPL sector
Accelerating growth in our merchant base and
receivables book, building off key Retail and
Home Improvement merchant wins in Q4 2021.
Increasing content subscribers and customer
base via direct‑to‑consumer product offerings.
Augmenting our responsible approach to
lending via enhanced credit risk decisioning,
and strengthening our fraud detection and
prevention capabilities.
Improving our customer and merchant
user experience through ongoing platform
development.
Continuing evolution on cost of funds.

Payright Limited | Annual Report 2021
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Board &
Management

Meet Payright’s
leadership team

Myles Redward

Piers Redward

Myles co‑founded the Payright
business in 2015 and has since
served as Director and Joint Chief
Executive Officer. Myles has more
than 15 years’ experience in credit
and risk for major corporations
including Moody’s, Bank of Ireland
and GE Capital. At GE Capital,
Myles led the corporate level
planning and analysis function.
Myles has a detailed understanding
of financial modelling and
accounting practices in the context
of the consumer finance industry.
He holds a Bachelor of Business
Management from Monash
University and is a qualified
Certified Practising Accountant.

Piers co‑founded the Payright
business in 2015 and has served
as Director since 2017 and Joint
Chief Executive Officer. Piers has
in excess of 15 years’ experience
working in the retail finance
industry across multiple products.
He was previously Customer
Service and Collections Manager
within ANZ’s Esanda Finance
business, National Sales Manager
for FlexiGroup (Humm) and Head of
Sales and Distribution for Wingate
Consumer Finance, managing
multiple brands (including Flexirent,
Lombard Finance, Once Credit,
Now Finance and Mac Credit).

Co‑Founder and Joint CEO

22

Co‑Founder and Joint CEO

Saara Mistry

General Counsel and
Chief Risk Officer
Saara has more than 18 years’
post‑qualified experience in legal,
risk and compliance in consumer
credit, banking and financial
products and services and
insurance. Specialising in
consumer finance, privacy and
wealth management, Saara has
worked as in‑house senior legal
counsel to Barclays Bank in the UK,
HSBC in the Middle East and NAB
and Liberty Financial in Australia.
Prior to joining Payright, Saara was
the senior risk partner to NAB’s
wealth advice business. She has
also held positions in compliance
and risk at NAB and Barclays Bank.
Saara is a qualified solicitor in
Victoria and holds a Bachelor of
Science/Bachelor of Laws with
Honours from Monash University.

David Leach

Mark Evans

Tere Green

David is a senior finance executive
with over 20 years’ experience in
Financial Services across Australia
and the United States. David’s
experience includes over 8 years at
National Australia Bank, with roles
including Head of Finance for the
Corporate, Institutional and
Specialised Businesses division;
and over 6 years at Bank of the
West, a subsidiary of BNP Paribas,
with relevant roles including
Executive Vice President,
Business and Cost Performance
Management, and Interim CFO.

Mark comes from a 30+ year career
at ANZ Bank where he held a wide
range of leadership roles across
technology, large‑scale operations
and business management.
Relevant roles included Head of
Technology for the ANZ Retail Bank,
Head of Operations for ANZ Cards
(where he was responsible for issuing,
acquiring and consumer credit),
General Manager Electronic Banking
Services, providing electronic banking,
payments and cash management
products and services to the
Bank’s SME, Business and
Institutional customers.

Tere is a seasoned sales
professional with 14 years’ of
experience spanning personal
loans, leasing, line of credit,
interest free cards and Buy Now
Pay Later across the Australian
and New Zealand markets.
Prior to joining Payright, Tere
held senior leadership roles with
payments FinTech’s Zip Co and
Openpay, along with financial
services companies Now Finance
and FlexiGroup.

Paul Cowan

Lindley Edwards

Matthew Pringle

Paul has served as Director
of the Company since 2017, when
the Company was very much in
its infancy. During this time Paul
has assisted the Company with the
establishment of its current funding
programs, the development of
corporate growth strategies, and
the introduction of key relationships
to support the Company’s growth
aspirations. Paul is a member
of the Audit and Risk Committee
and the Nominations and
Remuneration Committee.

Lindley is CEO of Australasian
corporate advisory and transaction
consulting firm AFG Venture Group,
which was formed in 2010 through
the merger of Asean Focus Group
and Venture Group, a company
Lindley founded in 1996. She also
serves as non‑executive director on
the boards of the National Bank of
Vanuatu Ltd, the Coral Sea Cable
Company Ltd (as Chair), Techstacked
Pty Ltd and Mindhive Pty Ltd (as
Chair). Lindley is a member and
Chair of the Nominations and
Remuneration Committee. Lindley
is also a member of the Audit and
Risk Committee.

Matthew has extensive experience
in corporate finance, audit and
assurance, governance and
strategy, including over 25 years’
experience as a Partner at Pitcher
Partners. His roles with Pitcher
Partners included leading the
corporate finance practice group,
senior audit partner and leading the
corporate governance and board
advisory practice area. Matthew
is a member and Chair of the Audit
and Risk Committee. Matthew is
also a member of the Nominations
and Remuneration Committee.

Chief Financial Officer

Non‑Executive Director
and Chair

Chief Technology Officer

Independent Non‑Executive
Director

General Manager of Sales

Independent Non‑Executive
Director
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Directors’ Report
The directors submit their report on Payright Limited (formerly Devizo Pty Ltd) (the “Company”) and its controlled entities
(collectively, the “Group” or “Payright”) for the financial year ended 30 June 2021.

Initial Public Offering
On 23 December 2020, Payright completed an Initial Public Offering (IPO) and listed on the Australian Securities Exchange
(ASX), having raised $18,515,364 through the issuance of 15,429,470 shares at $1.20 per share.

Directors
The names and details of the of the Company’s directors in office during the year and until the date of this report are set
out below. Directors were in office for this entire period, unless otherwise stated.

Paul Samuel Cowan
Chairman and Non‑Executive Director

Piers James Redward
Executive Director

Myles Redward
Executive Director

Matthew Pringle
Non‑Executive Director (appointed 27 October 2020)

Lindley Edwards
Non‑Executive Director (appointed 27 October 2020)

Director qualifications, experience and special responsibilities
Paul Samuel Cowan
(Chairman and Non‑Executive Director)
Paul has over 30 years of experience in the financial services industry, currently also serving as Executive Director of
River Capital. He has served on a number of public company Board’s including Cash Converters International, Brumby’s
Bakeries and as Chairman of ASX listed Prime Financial. Prior to joining River Capital in 2003, Paul served as Chief
Executive Officer of Lowell Capital Limited. Paul has a Bachelor of Economics degree from Monash University and
is a qualified Chartered Accountant. Paul is a member of, the Audit and Risk Committee and the Remuneration
and Nomination Committee.

Piers James Redward
(Co‑Founder and Joint Chief Executive Officer)
In his role as Joint CEO, Piers takes responsibility for sales, marketing, operations, business development, product and
people & culture at Payright. Piers holds a Diploma of Business (Management) and has over 15 years of experience in the
finance industry where he has developed deep expertise across business and consumer finance, specialising in interest
free products, leasing and personal loans. Prior to establishing Payright, he worked with FlexiGroup (Humm), Esanda
finance, MacCredit and Now Finance.

Myles Redward
(Co‑Founder and Joint Chief Executive Officer)
In his role as Joint CEO, Myles takes responsibility for finance, legal & compliance, technology, investor relations and
projects at Payright. Myles has over 15 years of experience working within Moody’s, Bank of Ireland and GE Capital.
He spent his earlier years in finance where he headed up the planning and analysis function at GE Capital developing his
detailed understanding of financial modelling and accounting practices in the context of the consumer finance industry.
Myles has a Bachelor of Business Management degree from Monash University and is a qualified CPA Accountant.
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Director qualifications, experience and special responsibilities (continued)
Matthew Pringle
(Non‑Executive Director – appointed 27 October 2020)
Matthew has extensive experience in corporate finance, audit and assurance, governance and strategy, including over
25 years’ experience as a Partner at Pitcher Partners. His roles with Pitcher Partners included leading the corporate
finance practice group, senior audit partner and leading the corporate governance and board advisory practice area.
Matthew currently serves as Chairperson on the board of Anglicare Victoria. Matthew holds a Bachelor of Commerce
from the University of Melbourne and is a Chartered Accountant. Matthew is a member and Chair of the Audit and Risk
Committee. Matthew is also a member of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee.

Lindley Edwards
(Non‑Executive Director – appointed 27 October 2020)
Lindley is Chief Executive Officer of Australasian corporate advisory and transaction consulting firm AFG Venture Group,
which was formed in 2010 through the merger of Asean Focus Group and Venture Group, a company Lindley founded
in 1996. She also serves as non‑executive director on the boards of the National Bank of Vanuatu Ltd, the Coral Sea Cable
Company Ltd (as Chair), Techstacked Pty Ltd and Mindhive Pty Ltd (as Chair). Lindley has more than 30 years’ experience
in financial, advisory, banking and business as well as consulting to boards and senior executive teams. She has held
positions including as Vice President at Citibank, Associate Director at Macquarie Bank and Private Client Manager at
Banque National de Paris. Lindley has a PhD in Philosophy. She holds a Bachelor of Business Accounting (Monash
University) and a Bachelor of Business Banking and Finance (Victoria University). Lindley is a member of, and Chair
the Remuneration and Nomination Committee. Lindley is also a member of the Audit and Risk Committee.

Company Secretary
Saara Mistry
Saara has over 18 years of experience as in‑house legal counsel, compliance and risk professional across financial
services in Australia, United Kingdom and the Middle East. She specialises in consumer finance, privacy and wealth
management. Her previous employment includes Barclays Bank in the UK, HSBC in the Middle East and NAB and
Liberty Financial in Australia. She holds a Bachelor of Science/Bachelor of Laws (Hons) from Monash University.

Directors’ meetings
The number of meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors (the ‘Board’) and of each Board committee held during
the year end 30 June 2021, and the number of meetings attended by each Director were:
Board Meetings
Held1

Attended

Paul Samuel Cowan

14

14

Piers James Redward

14

12

Myles Redward

14

14

Matthew Pringle

9

9

Lindley Edwards

9

9

Director

1. The number of meetings held indicates the total number held whilst the Director was in office during the course of the year.

Payright Limited | Annual Report 2021

25

Directors’ Report (continued)
Board Committee meetings
Attendance of the Directors at meetings of committees of the Board during the year is set out below:
Remuneration &
Nomination Committee

Audit and Risk Committee
HeldA

Attended

Paul Samuel Cowan

3

3

Piers James Redward

–

Myles Redward

3

Matthew Pringle
Lindley Edwards

Director

Attended

2

2
B

–B

2B

–B

–B

3

3

2

2

3

3

2

2

B

–

HeldA

B

–

A. The number of meetings held indicates the total number held whilst the Director was a member of the relevant committee during the course of the year.
B. Denotes the Director is not a member of the relevant committee.

Dividends
No dividends have been paid or declared for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 (30 June 2020: $nil).

Principal activities
The principal activity of the Group during the financial year was to provide merchants with a buy‑now, pay later flexible
payment option to offer their customers; intended for higher value transactions that are more considered purchases rather
than smaller impulse‑driven buys.
Merchants are paid upfront, net of the merchant fee typically on the same day and include a diverse mix of broad‑reaching
products and services across a range of different merchant verticals and industries including retail, home improvement,
education, photography, health & beauty and after‑market automotive.
The Group provides services to merchants, along with its customers, in Australia and New Zealand (“NZ”).
There were no significant changes in the nature of these activities for the financial year ended 30 June 2021.

Review of operations
The Group (trading as “Payright”) is an established participant in the ‘Buy Now Pay Later’ (BNPL) industry. It is a payment
plan provider developed for merchants to generate incremental sales and providing customers with the ability to spread
the cost of purchases over time.
The Group continued its momentum delivering strong operational performance in the challenging economic conditions,
remaining focused on top‑line sustainable growth through customer acquisition and expansion in merchant volume
and diversification.
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Summary of financial results for the financial year ended1

Total income
Operating expenses
Net finance costs
Depreciation
NLAT
Basic and diluted EPS (cents)

2

2021
$

2020
$

Change
%

12,174,383

9,847,839

23.6%

(18,721,538)

(11,582,655)

61.6%

(6,027,820)

(5,645,122)

6.8%

(158,975)

(128,828)

23.4%

(12,733,950)

(7,508,766)

69.6%

(0.22)

(0.13)

1. Throughout this report, certain non‑IFRS information, such as Net Loss after Tax (NLAT), Gross merchandise value (GMV), Average transaction value,
Total merchants and Total customers are used. Such information is used to assist readers to better understand the financial performance of the Group
in each financial period. Non‑IFRS information is not audited.
2. Calculation of diluted EPS does not take into account 4,125,000 of shares issued under the director options grant and 1,168.152 of shares issued under
the employee options grant because they are anti‑dilutive as at the reporting period.

Group financial performance and reported results
The Group’s commitment to cementing its position as a BNPL provider of choice in Australia and New Zealand by
continuing to enhance customer experience and adding value to its merchant partners has led to the increase in total
income for the year ended 30 June 2021 by 24% from the prior comparative period (pcp). The increase was achieved
through the Group’s:
•

Optimised marketing investment campaigns with more targeted direct marketing, which has helped the Group build
its presence in Australia and NZ, and its brand campaign driving customer acquisition growth by 58% to 53,489 total
customers as at 30 June 2021 (30 June 2020: 33,947).

•

Increase in total merchants by 41% to 3,416 (30 June 2020: 2,415) as a result of a focused merchant acquisition
strategy, particularly with the recent signing with flagship partners Masport, Service Seeking, Australian Outdoor
Living and Stratco to the platform. These strategic partnerships allows expansion of the Group’s merchant footprint
in key verticals such as home improvement and outdoor leisure sectors.

•

GMV growth and a higher average transaction value of $3,558 (30 June 2020: $3,135). This was a combined result
of the Group’s continued focus on higher value transactions, targeting less congested industry types with a more
mature demographic of end customer.

Operating expenses for the year were $18,721,538, an increase of $7,138,883 (or 61.6%) from pcp of $11,582,655.
The increase is mainly driven by the Group’s continued investment in people, doubling its sales team and building
out support teams. This has positioned the Group well for ongoing future growth supporting its scale up.
In addition, the Group’s preparation and execution of the IPO resulted in increased spend on consulting and professional
fees, as well as marketing activities.
Expected credit loss (ECL) for 30 June 2021 financial year was $3,188,326 (FY20: $4,588,520). The Group continues
to manage its credit and fraud risk exposure through robust underwriting and credit decisioning, a heavy focus on
arrears management, investment in technology enabling the early prevention of fraud and enhancing its merchant
onboarding process.
Net finance costs for the year were $6,027,820, an increase of $382,698 (or 6.8%) versus the prior year period due
to higher average loans and borrowings held in the period.
The net loss before tax of the Group for year ended 30 June 2021 was $12,733,950 (FY20: $7,508,766).
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Financial position and cash flow
Cash flow summary
Net cash flows used in operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities

30 June 2021
$

30 June 2020
$

Change
%

(32,599,236)

(23,280,026)

(39.9%)

(111,437)

(19,498)

(471.5%)

Net cash flows from financing activities

31,530,543

24,520,795

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalent

(1,140,130)

1,221,271

28.6%
(193.4%)

30 June 2021
$

30 June 2020
$

Change
%

72,362,683

52,341,617

38.3%

Total liabilities

(54,518,260)

(45,038,980)

21.0%

NET ASSETS

17,844,423

7,302,637

144.4%

EQUITY

17,844,423

7,302,637

144.4%

Financial position summary
Total assets

Cash flows
Cash as at 30 June 2021 was $7,088,279 (30 June 2020: $8,228,409). Payright successfully listed on the ASX in
December which raised $18,515,364 through the issuance of 15,429,470 shares at $1.20 per share.
Cash receipts in the year were $57,261,213 (30 June 2020: $40,783,916), representing a 40% increase over pcp with
payments to merchants up 36% over pcp which resulted in a large increase in gross receivables of $22,183,313.
The increase in payments to suppliers was driven by higher operational activity, investments in people and processes.
As a result, net cash flows used in operating activities for 30 June 2021 were 40% higher than pcp.
The increase in total cash flows from financing activities for the year ended 30 June 2021 was $7,009,748 (29%).
The combined raisings from the IPO proceeds, convertible notes of $7,000,000 and its AU Series 7 and NZ Series 1
loan notes has enabled the Group to accelerate its growth strategy.
As at 30 June 2021, the Group has a total undrawn loan book facility of $19,326,664 (30 June 2020: $281,375).

Future funding arrangement
The Group’s business model is to source additional capital and/or funding as it continues to grow and expand its market
share. The planned sourcing of a $100 million warehouse funding facility by Gresham Partners on behalf of the Company
has commenced, and once secured, is expected to further accelerate the Group’s lending activities while reducing its cost
of funds. While this avenue of funding arrangement is being explored, no assurance can be given that such arrangement
will be secured, or that this arrangement will be able to be secured on acceptable terms.

Financial position
Total assets have increased from 30 June 2020 by 38% to $72,362,683 due mainly to the Group’s receivables balance.
Total net receivables as at 30 June 2021 is $64,577,659, representing an increase from 30 June 2020 by 49%.
Total liabilities have increased by 21% to $54,518,260 mainly due to the proceeds from loans and borrowings with the
issuance of Series 6 and 7 Notes facility of $7,000,000 and $6,000,000 respectively. This was followed by the repayment
of Series 1 and 2 Notes facility of $425,000 and $2,600,000 respectively.
Net equity as at 30 June 2021 was $17,844,423, an increase from 30 June 2020 of $10,541,786. The increase was
predominantly due to the issuance of shares on IPO, offset partially by the operating loss for the year.
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Outlook
Following the successful listing on the ASX, the Group is excited to continue on its strong growth trajectory into FY22
and beyond, strengthening its position as a BNPL provider of choice for ‘considered purchases’ over $1,000 in Australia
and New Zealand. Funds raised from the IPO along with the further extension of the loan note programme has supported
the Group’s growth. Further, the successful transition to a traditional warehouse funding facility will provide an enhanced
runway for the business supporting its three core strategic pillars;
•

Leverage off strength in the current markets to continue growing its merchant base, expanding both locally and
to build its presence in the New Zealand market.

•

Increase marketing presence and brand awareness, complimenting the Group’s merchant first philosophy with
customer retention and acquisition strategies.

•

Continue its development in smart new technologies with a healthy pipeline of new innovations to create
a frictionless onboarding process and a streamlined user experience.

The Group remains aware of the current economic circumstances and will continue to closely monitor these including
potential changes in the BNPL regulatory environment, as well as continued developments of COVID‑19 pandemic and
its direct and indirect impacts on the business.

Significant change in the state of affairs
Apart from the successful listing on the ASX on 23 December 2020, there were no significant changes in the state
of affairs of the Group during the year.

Significant events after the reporting date
Since 30 June 2021, the Group has issued additional loan notes pursuant to its Series 7 Notes Programme to both repay
the maturing Series 3 loan notes and to fund the growth in its ongoing lending activities.
On 2 July 2021, the Group called upon Tranche 2A of its Series 7 note facility (Pool A) to the value of $2,000,000.
The notes have a maturity date of 26 August 2022.
On 19 July 2021, the Group called upon Tranche 2B of its Series 7 note facility (Pool A) to the value of $4,300,000.
The notes have a maturity date of 26 August 2022.
On 25 July 2021, the Group repaid $6,285,000 of its Series 3 loan notes.
On 30 July 2021, the Group called upon Tranche 2C of its Series 7 note facility (Pool A) to the value of $2,509,000.
The notes have a maturity date of 26 August 2022.
On 9 August 2021, the Group called upon Tranche 2 of its New Zealand Series 1 note facility to the value of NZ$500,000.
The notes have a maturity date of 1 December 2022.
There were no other significant events occurring after the reporting period which may significantly affect either the
Group’s operations or results of those operations or the Group’s state of affairs.

Likely developments and expected results or operations
There are no other developments and expected results or operations, other than those mentioned in the ‘Outlook’ section.

Environmental regulation
The Group is not subject to any particular or significant environmental regulation under laws of the Commonwealth or
of a State or Territory.
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Share Options
During the year, options to acquire shares in the Company were granted with no shares issued. Unissued ordinary shares
of the Company under option at the date of this report are as follows:
Grant Date

Expiry Date

Exercise Price

Number under option

31 October 2020

31 October 2024

$0.63

1,168,152

23 December 2020

23 December 2024

$2.10

4,125,000

Indemnification and insurance of directors and officers
A deed of indemnity, insurance and access has been entered into with each Director of the Group.
During the financial year the Group paid a premium for Directors’ and Officers’ Liability insurance. Further disclosure
is prohibited under the terms of the contract.

Indemnification of auditor
To the extent permitted by law and professional regulations, the Group has agreed to indemnify its auditors, Ernst & Young,
as part of the terms of its audit engagement agreement against all claims by third parties and resulting liabilities, losses,
damages, costs and expenses (including reasonable external legal costs) arising from the audit engagement including
any negligent, wrongful or wilful act or omission by the Group. The indemnity does not apply to any loss resulting from
Ernst & Young’s negligent, wrongful or wilful acts or omissions. No payment has been made under this indemnity to
Ernst & Young during or since the financial year end.

Non‑audit services
The directors have assessed the independence of the Group’s external auditor, Ernst & Young (Australia), for the year
ended 30 June 2021. The assessment was conducted in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.
The assessment included a review of non‑audit services provided by the auditor and an assessment of the independence
declaration issued by the external auditor for the year ended 30 June 2021.
Details of the amounts paid or payable to Ernst & Young (Australia) for non‑audit services provided during the financial
year are contained in Note 8.2 of the financial statements.
The directors are satisfied that the provision of non‑audit services during the financial year, by the Group’s external
auditor, Ernst & Young (Australia), is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the
Corporations Act 2001 and do not compromise the external auditor’s independence requirements of the Corporations Act
2001 for the following reason:
all non‑audit services have been reviewed and approved by the Board to ensure that they do not impact the integrity
and objectivity of the auditor.

Auditor’s independence
The directors have received a declaration from the auditor of Payright Limited, Ernst & Young (Australia). This has been
included on page 39.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

Piers Redward
Director

Myles Redward
Director

26 August 2021

26 August 2021
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Remuneration Report
Introduction
This remuneration report outlines the Company’s remuneration strategy for the financial year ending 30 June 2021
(the ‘Reporting Period’) and provides an explanation of the remuneration outcomes for the Reporting Period for the
Directors, the Chief Executive Officers (CEOs) and other Key Management Personnel. For the purpose of this report,
Key Management Personnel (‘KMP’) are defined as persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing
and controlling major activities of the Group and include all Non‑executive directors of the Company.
The directors are pleased to present the Remuneration Report (Report) for the Company for the Reporting Period.
These disclosures have been transferred from the financial report and have been prepared and audited as required
by section s308(3C) of the Corporations Act 2001.

Key Management Personnel
The following persons are named as KMP for the Reporting Period and their remuneration is disclosed in this Report.

Executive Directors
Name

Position

Myles Redward

Co‑Founder and Joint CEO

Piers Redward

Co‑Founder and Joint CEO

Non‑Executive Directors
Name

Position

Paul Cowan

Non‑executive director and Board Chair

Matthew Pringle

Independent non‑executive director and Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee

Lindley Edwards

Independent non‑executive director and Chair of the Remuneration and Nominations Committee

Executive Management Personnel
Name

Position

Adam Tutchener

Chief Financial Officer (CFO)

Saara Mistry

General Counsel, Chief Risk Officer, Company Secretary

Mark Evans

Chief Technology Officer

Adam Tutchener stepped down as CFO effective from 8 July 2021. The Company’s incoming CFO is David Leach who
is providing services to the Company on an Independent Contractor Agreement on normal commercial terms and on
an arm’s length basis until September 2021. Mr Leach is in the process of relocating from the US to Australia, and the
Company expects this to coincide with the end of his contracted period at which time his ongoing appointment as CFO
will be finalised with a standard form executive employment agreement. For the duration of the contracted period either
party may terminate the agreement on 1 day’s notice.

Remuneration Framework
The Company’s remuneration framework is designed to attract and retain high quality directors, senior management
and staff and motivate them to pursue the long‑term growth and success of the Company. It has been developed
to align with the Company’s values, stakeholder requirements and risk appetite. The Company aims to ensure incentives
for non‑executive directors do not conflict with their obligation to bring independent judgement to matters before the
Board whilst ensuring appropriate management of Company expenses.

Payright Limited | Annual Report 2021

31

Remuneration Report (continued)
Remuneration Framework (continued)
The Remuneration and Nominations Committee (RNC) established in October 2020 is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on remuneration policies and packages applicable to the directors, the CEOs and
other KMP and consists of the three non‑executive members of the Board. The RNC is subject to the Remuneration
and Nomination Committee Charter which is available on the Company’s website at www.payright.com.au. The RNC
has the role of:
(i)

overseeing the Company’s remuneration practices;

(ii) reviewing the composition and competencies of the Board and its Committees;
(iii) evaluating the performance of the Board, its Committees and Individual Directors;
(iv) ensuring proper succession plans are in place for consideration by the Board; and
(v) monitoring and assessing the overall performance in relation to safety and sustainability.
The RNC will evaluate its performance and the appropriateness of its Charter annually to determine whether it is
functioning effectively in accordance with its Charter and with regard to best practice. The Company’s Board will also
evaluate the RNC’s performance as appropriate, will review the RNC Charter annually and must approve any changes
to the RNC Charter proposed by the RNC.
In accordance with the RNC Charter, Remuneration levels are competitively set to attract and retain appropriately
qualified and experienced directors and executives. In October 2020, prior to listing, the Company engaged Remuneration
Strategies Pty Ltd (Remuneration Strategies) to review the proposed remuneration arrangements for the Company’s
Co‑CEOs and confirm whether the proposed remuneration arrangements were reasonable or unreasonable in the
circumstances considering the imminent public listing of the Company and the CEOs as founders of the Company
who held significant equity prior to listing. Remuneration Strategies were engaged on an arm’s length basis on ordinary
commercial terms and received $12,650 in compensation for their services. Remuneration Strategies concluded the
CEOs’ proposed remuneration arrangements (as implemented for the Reporting Period) were reasonable. They also
recommended a full remuneration review of remuneration for CEOs post the Company’s listing on the ASX in December
2020 and that this review consider appropriate fixed, short‑term and long‑term incentive components to the CEO
remuneration. The Board was satisfied with the recommendations made and that such were made without undue
influence from the Co‑CEOs due to the independent and arm’s length nature of the engagement and the consideration
paid. The Company intends to conduct a further remuneration review early in the third quarter of 2022.

Company Performance
As detailed in this report, the Company’s remuneration framework comprises fixed remuneration made up of base salary
and superannuation and Long‑Term Incentives (LTI) aligned to the delivery of long‑term performance and returns to
Shareholders delivered through Share Options. Options granted were independently valued and the fair value is recognised
over the vesting period.
The Company aims to align executive remuneration to strategic and business objectives and the creation of shareholder
value. The below table outlines the Company’s performance for the current and previous 4 years. As the Company listed
on 23 December 2020, the share price is included for this financial year only.
2021
$

2020
$

2019
$

2018
$

12,174,383

9,847,839

3,414,041

372,693

(18,721,538)

(11,582,655)

(6,174,513)

(1,555,356)

(6,027,820)

(5,645,122)

(1,827,576)

(156,926)

(158,975)

(128,828)

(35,871)

(6,025)

(12,733,950)

(7,508,766)

(4,623,919)

(1,345,614)

EPS (cents)

(0.22)

(0.13)

(0.23)

(0.11)

Share price as at year end

0.505

n/a

n/a

n/a

Total income
Operating expenses
Net finance costs
Depreciation
NLAT
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Long‑Term incentives – Options
In October 2020 the Company adopted an Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP) to assist in the motivation and
retention of selected employees including directors and other KMP. The ESOP is designed to align the interests of eligible
employees more closely with the interests of the Company by providing the opportunity for eligible employees to receive
an equity interest in the Company. The ESOP was adopted by the Board on 28 October 2020 and approved by Shareholders
at the Company EGM on 30 November 2020 by way of ordinary resolution.
Under the ESOP, eligible employees may be offered awards of Rights, Options or Restricted Shares which are subject
to the terms and conditions specified by the Board.
A summary of the key terms of the ESOP are set out below:
Topic

Summary

Eligibility

Employee, directors and contractors of the Company group, or any other person as determined
by the Board.

Award

The ESOP permits the Board to grant one or more types of award, including:
• entitlements to acquire Shares (Rights), provided that the holder has no interest in the Shares
until the Rights vest or are exercised;
• rights to acquire Shares which may be subject to satisfaction of conditions and compliance
with applicable exercise procedures (including payment of any applicable exercise price),
on terms and conditions as determined by the Board (Options); and
• Shares that are subject to dealing restrictions (Restricted Shares), (each of these being
ESOP Securities).

Exercise price

Unless otherwise specified in the Grant Letter, the recipient is not required to pay for a grant
of an award under the ESOP.

Under the ESOP, eligible employees may be offered additional ESOP securities subject to terms and conditions set by the
Board. ESOP Securities may be offered to members of Management who join the Company in the future subject to ASX
Listing Rules and requisite Shareholder approval.

Components of Remuneration
In accordance with the ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations, the structure of non‑executive
remuneration is separate from the executive remuneration.

Non‑Executive Directors
Structure
The Constitution of the Company and the ASX Listing Rules require that the aggregate remuneration of non‑executive
directors shall be determined from time to time by a resolution approved by shareholders at a general meeting. Currently
the aggregate remuneration threshold is set at $500,000 per annum. Legislated superannuation contributions made on
behalf of non‑executive directors are included within the aggregate remuneration threshold.
In accordance with their letters of appointment, the Company’s non‑executive directors receive a cash fee for their
service. In addition to the cash fee for their contribution and performance as a non‑executive director, Matthew Pringle
and Lindley Edwards also receive a separate fee for chairing the Audit and Risk Committee and Remuneration and
Nominations Committee respectively. There are no retirement benefit schemes for non‑executive directors, other
than statutory superannuation contributions.
Fixed Remuneration
Fees payable to the non‑executive directors for the 2021 financial year inclusive of superannuation contributions are set
out in this report in table 1.
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Components of Remuneration (continued)
Variable remuneration – LTI plan
In addition to the fees payable to the Board Chair, the Company, under the terms of the ESOP, on 22 December 2020
issued Paul Cowan with 1,125,000 Options with an exercise price of $2.10 (being 175% of the Company IPO Offer Price).
Subject to continuity of appointment, the Options will vest immediately upon the expiry of a 3 year period and will lapse
if not exercised upon expiry of a 4‑year term. The Company has valued the Employee Options Grant at $0.1161 per Option
based on the Black Scholes valuation methodology.
The premium pricing of Mr Cowan’s exercise right on his Options is designed to incentivise Mr Cowan to promote the
Company’s long‑term growth post listing and to continue his directorship with the Company for the prescribed
performance period.

CEOs and other KMPs
Structure
At present the Company rewards the CEOs and other KMPs with a level of fixed remuneration commensurate with their
position and responsibilities within the Company so as to:
• Reward them for Company and individual performance against key performance indicators;
• Align their interests with those of shareholders; and
• Ensure total remuneration is competitive by market standards.
The level of fixed remuneration for CEOs and all Senior Executives who report to the CEOs are subject to RNC and Board approval.
CEOs and other Senior Executives are each a party to either employment or independent contractor agreements with the
Company on an arms‑length basis and ordinary commercial terms. These agreements entitle those persons to a fixed
compensation amount. Employees are also permitted, at the Company’s discretion to receive a performance bonus from
the Company.
There are no retirement benefit schemes or termination benefits for executive Directors or other Senior Executives, other
than statutory superannuation contributions. A Director who performs additional or special duties for the Company at
the request of the Board may be paid such additional or special remuneration (as determined by the Board).
Fixed Remuneration
The fixed remuneration component of the CEOs and Senior Executive’s total remuneration package is expressed as a total
package consisting of a base salary and statutory superannuation contributions. Fixed remuneration reflects the
complexity of the individual’s role and their experience, knowledge and performance. Internal and external benchmarking
is regularly undertaken and fixed remuneration levels are set with regard to the external market median. The fixed
remuneration component is reviewed annually and as otherwise required, taking into account the performance of the
individual and the Company. There are no guaranteed increases to fixed remuneration in any contracts of employment.
Variable remuneration – LTI plan
CEOs
The joint CEOs, at the approval of the Board have participated in a long‑term incentive plan under the terms of the ESOP.
Myles and Piers Redward both received on 22 December 2020, 1,500,000 Options with an exercise price of $2.10
(being 175% of the Company IPO Offer Price). Subject to continuity of appointment, the Options will vest immediately
upon the expiry of a 3‑year period and will lapse if not exercised upon expiry of a 4‑year term. The Company has valued
the Director Options Grant at $0.1161 per Option based on the Black Scholes valuation methodology.
The premium pricing of CEO exercise right on their Options is designed to incentivise the CEOs to promote the Company’s
long‑term growth post listing and to continue their directorship with the Company for the prescribed performance period.
Senior Executives
To motivate its Senior Executives to grow the Company and share in its financial success, align the interests of Senior
Management and Shareholders as well as attracting and retaining KMP, the Company offered an award of Options under
the ESOP to Adam Tutchener, Saara Mistry and Mark Evans (Employee Options Grant). Adam and Saara each received
163,987 Options and Mark Evans received 246,992 Options. These Options have an exercise price of $0.63 and vesting
period of 3 years (subject to continuity of employment) and will lapse if not exercised after 4 years. The Company has
valued the Employee Options Grant at $0.3638 per Option based on the Black Scholes valuation methodology.
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Components of Remuneration (continued)
Contracts for services
CEOs
The structure of the CEOs’ remuneration is in accordance with their employment agreement. The CEOs employment
agreements are for an indefinite term.
In relation to Myles and Piers Redward, each may and the Company may terminate their employment by providing
6 months’ notice to the other party. CEOs are entitled to a discretionary bonus based on performance and workload
if recommended by the RNC and approved by the Board. There are no termination benefits other than statutory leave
and superannuation.
KMP
All other Senior Executives are each party to either an employment or independent contractor agreement with the
Company. These agreements entitle those Senior Executives to a fixed compensation amount. Management employees
are permitted to receive a performance bonus from the Company at the Company’s discretion.
Under these contracts for services for Senior Executives, either party may generally terminate the employment contract
by giving 3 months’ notice. The Company may terminate for cause immediately.

Remuneration of Key Management Personnel
Details of the nature and amount of each major element of remuneration of each KMP are set out in table 1 for the 2021
financial year. The remuneration tables are calculated on an accruals basis only and include remuneration relating to the
relevant period that the employees are a KMP of the Company.
Table 1

Short‑Term Benefits

ShareBased
Payments

2021

Salary &
Fees
$

Annual
Leave
$

Long
Service
Leave
$

Superannuation
$

Options
$

Total
$

% Performance
Related

Myles Redward

271,304

18,064

17,611

21,279

30,060

358,318

8%

Piers Redward

271,304

23,204

12,217

21,279

30,060

358,064

8%

Paul Cowan

87,641

–

–

8,326

22,545

118,512

19%

Matthew Pringle
(Appointed 27 Oct
2020)*

48,264

–

–

4,585

–

52,849

–

Lindley Edwards
(Appointed 27 Oct
2020)

48,264

–

–

4,585

–

52,849

–

Adam Tutchener

219,542

18,237

20,740

13,239

271,153

5%

Saara Mistry

241,994

16,727

2,446

20,714

13,239

295,120

4%

Mark Evans

158,250

–

–

–

19,940

178,190

11%

1,346,563

76,232

31,669

101,508

129,083

1,685,055

8%

Total
*

Long‑term
benefits

Post
Employment
Benefits

(605)

Matthew Pringle, in his capacity as director of Coomara Consulting (ABN 69 769 238 354) provided independent advisory services to Payright prior to
his appointment as non‑executive director. The service arrangement was under arm’s length dealings and on ordinary commercial terms, amount paid
was $82,500 (incl‑GST).
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Remuneration Report (continued)
Shareholdings of KMP
The number of ordinary shares of Payright Limited held, directly, indirectly or beneficially, by each Director and other KMP,
including their personally related entities for the year ended 30 June 2021 is as follows:
Table 2

Sold

Other
changes*

Granted
as Remuneration

Held at
30‑Jun‑21

Held at date
of report

–

–

4,507,914

–

8,907,914

8,907,914

4,400,000

13,000

–

4,507,914

–

8,920,914

8,920,914

804,993

33,256

–

824,736

–

1,662,985

1,662,985

Matthew Pringle
(Appointed 27 Oct 2020)

–

50,000

–

–

50,000

50,000

Lindley Edwards
(Appointed 27 Oct 2020)

–

10,196

–

–

10,196

10,196

Adam Tutchener

–

–

–

–

–

Saara Mistry

–

127,557

–

79,722

–

207,279

207,279

477,546

–

–

489,258

–

966,804

966,804

10,082,539

234,009

–

10,409,545

–

20,726,093

20,726,093

Key Management
Personnel

Held at
1‑Jul‑20

Purchase

Myles Redward

4,400,000

Piers Redward
Paul Cowan

Mark Evans
Total**
*

The Company’s pre‑IPO issued shares were split. Each shareholder of the Company received 2.024526 shares for each share they previously held,
with a corresponding diminution in the value of each share such that the total aggregate value of that shareholder’s holding remained unchanged.

** In addition to the shares held by KMP of the Company as detailed in table 2, Myles Redward’s, Piers Redward’s and Saara Mistry’s mother Pamela
Dolphin Redward held 41,666 shares as at 30 June 2021. Myles Redward’s, Piers Redward’s and Saara Mistry’s sibling Ashby Redward who is also
an employee of the Company held 8,125 shares as at 30 June 2021.

Options holdings of KMP
The number of Options over ordinary shares in Payright Limited held, directly, indirectly or beneficially, by each specified
Director and specified executive, including their personally‑related entities for the year ended 30 June 2021 is as follows:
Table 3
Balance at 30 June 2021
Vested –
exercisable
and
Held at
30‑Jun‑21 unexercisable

Held at
1‑Jul‑20

Cancelled

Expiry
of options

Granted
as Remuneration

Myles Redward

–

–

–

1,500,000

1,500,000

–

1,500,000

Piers Redward

–

–

–

1,500,000

1,500,000

–

1,500,000

Paul Cowan

–

–

–

1,125,000

1,125,000

–

1,125,000

Matthew Pringle
(Appointed 27 Oct 2020)

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Lindley Edwards
(Appointed 27 Oct 2020)

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Adam Tutchener

–

–

–

163,987

163,987

–

163,987

Saara Mistry

–

–

–

163,987

163,987

–

163,987

Mark Evans

–

–

–

246,992

246,992

–

246,992

Total*

–

–

–

4,699,966

4,699,966

–

4,699,966

Key Management
Personnel

*
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Unvested

In addition to the options held by KMP of the Company as detailed in table 3, Myles Redward’s, Piers Redward’s and Saara Mistry’s sibling
Ashby Redward who is also an employee of the Company held 99,202 options as at 30 June 2021.
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Remuneration Report (continued)
Share‑based Compensation of KMP
Other than as detailed in the preceding sections of this report, no share‑based compensation was issued to KMP
in the reporting period.

Related Party Transactions
Transactions with KMP and related parties of KMP were made on normal commercial terms and conditions and at
market rates during the Reporting Period.
In addition to the Company’s KMP, Ashby Redward is employed by the Company as Channel Partnership’s Manager.
Mr Ashby Redward is the sibling of Myles Redward, Piers Redward and Saara Mistry. Mr Ashby Redward receives
a fixed annual remuneration of $140,987.50 under an arm’s length employment agreement on ordinary commercial
terms. Mr Ashby also received 99,202 Options on the same terms as those awarded to Saara, Adam and Mark.
Myles Redward’s spouse, Emily Redward provided marketing and public relations services to the Company through an
independent contractor services agreement between the Company and Underline Marketing Group (ABN 61 468 728 480).
Emily Redward is the nominated person under this Agreement and is paid an hourly rate of $150 (excluding superannuation)
for services provided. The terms of this engagement were on an arm’s length basis on ordinary commercial terms. Due to
Mrs Redward’s exclusive and continuous service for over 12 months, and as required by the Fair Work Act 2009 (Cth),
she has also received paid parental leave for a period of 12 weeks and annual leave based on hours accrued under the
contractor services agreement.
Piers Redward’s spouse, Nicole Redward also provided project management services to the Company through an
independent contractor services agreement between the Company and NJR Services. Nicole Redward is the nominated
person under this Agreement and is paid an hourly rate of $150 (excluding superannuation) for services provided.
The terms of this engagement were on an arm’s length basis on ordinary commercial terms. Due to Mrs Redward’s
exclusive and continuous service for over 12 months, and as required by the Fair Work Act 2009 (Cth), she has also
received paid parental leave for a period of 12 weeks and annual leave based on hours accrued under the contractor
services agreement.
Matthew Pringle, in his capacity as director of Coomara Consulting provided independent advisory services to the
Company in connection with the Company’s IPO. The terms of this engagement were on an arm’s length basis on ordinary
commercial terms. Services ceased when Mr Pringle was appointed as non‑executive director on 27 October 2020.
Mark Evans provides CTO services to the Company via an independent contractor services agreement with Specialised
Resource Solutions Pty Ltd, a company of which Mark Evans is the Principal and Director. Mr Evans is the nominated
person under the agreement. This is a fixed price agreement under which Mr Evans is obligated to provide services over
the duration of the agreement with a specified completion date at a price of $12,500 monthly plus GST. In addition to the
specified deliverables under the contract, Mr Evans is required to operate in the role as the Company’s Chief Technology
Officer for the duration of the contract term. The terms of this engagement are otherwise on an arm’s length basis and
ordinary commercial terms. The contract also provides for regular reviews by the Company of progress against the
agreed deliverables.
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Remuneration Report (continued)
Related Party Transactions (continued)
Transactions with the above related parties are summarised as follows:

Short‑Term Benefits

Long‑term
benefits

Post
Employment
Benefits

ShareBased
Payments

2021

Salary &
Fees
$

Annual
Leave
$

Consulting
Services
$

Long
Service
Leave
$

Superannuation
$

Options
$

Total
$

Ashby Redward*

139,423

12,672

–

3,276

12,485

8,009

175,865

Nicole Redward

66,755

9,425

126,225

2,574

5,424

–

210,403

Emily Redward**

11,400

44,257

187,218

6,621

1,083

–

250,579

Coomera Consulting

–

–

82,500

–

–

–

82,500

Mark Evans

–

–

158,250

–

–

19,940

178,190

217,578

66,354

554,193

12,471

18,992

27,949

897,537

Total
*

Ashby Redward holds 8,125 ordinary shares as at 30 June 2021. Refer table 2.

** In relation to Emily Redward, her contractual arrangements were reviewed in FY21 and it was determined she meets the criteria of an employee.
Consequently, historic leave accruals for the previous year has been recognised in the current year.

Loans to Key Management Personnel
The Company made no loans to KMP during the financial year 30 June 2021.
Loans were made by family trusts controlled by Piers Redward and Myles Redward to the Company in the early stages
of the Company’s development.
Details are set out below.

Loan from Brakus Private Trust*
Loan from Myles Redward Family Trust*
Total loans from related parties
*

30‑Jun‑21
$

30‑Jun‑20
$

24,146

24,146

223

223

24,369

24,369

Loans from Brakus Private Trust (controlled by Piers Redward) and Myles Redward Family Trust (controlled by Myles Redward).

The loans are unsecured and have a fixed interest rate at 14%. Total interests charged as at the financial year ended
30 June 2021, was $9,385 on loan from Brakus Private Trust and $316 on loan from Myles Redward Family Trust.

38

Payright Limited | Annual Report 2021

Auditor’s Independence Declaration

Ernst & Young
8 Exhibition Street
Melbourne VIC 3000 Australia
GPO Box 67 Melbourne VIC 3001

Tel: +61 3 9288 8000
Fax: +61 3 8650 7777
ey.com/au

Audit or’s independence declarat ion t o t he direct ors of Payright Lt d
As lead auditor for the audit of the financial report of Payright Ltd (formerly Devizo Pty Ltd) for the
financial year ended 30 June 2021, I declare to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:
a.

No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in
relation to the audit; and

b.

No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of Payright Ltd and the entities it controlled during the financial year.

Ernst & Young

T M Dring
Partner
Melbourne
26 August 2021

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation
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Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2021.

About this report
This is the financial report for Payright Limited and its controlled entities (collectively, the “Group”). Payright Limited
(the “Company”) is a for‑profit entity limited by shares incorporated and domiciled in Australia whose shares are publicly
traded on the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX: PYR).
The financial report of Payright Limited for the year ended 30 June 2021 was authorised for issue in accordance with
a resolution of directors on 26 August 2021.
The registered office of the Group is Level 1, 55 Whitehorse Road, Balwyn, VIC 3103.
The principal place of business of the Group is Suite 4 Level 2, 787‑789 Toorak Road, Hawthorn East, VIC 3123.
The directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial statements.

Reading the financials
Section introduction
Introduction at the start of each section outlines the focus of the section and explains the purpose and content of
that section.

Information panel
The information panel describes our key accounting estimates and judgements applied in the preparation of the financial
report which are relevant to that section or note.
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2021
Notes

2021
$

2020
$

Fee income

3.1

11,452,275

9,321,130

Other income

3.1

722,098

519,175

10

7,534

12,174,383

9,847,839

Finance income
Total income

Administration costs

(1,122,345)

(834,208)

Consulting and professional fees

(2,290,356)

(878,419)

Depreciation

3.2

(158,975)

(128,828)

Employee benefits expense

3.2

(8,871,596)

(4,248,496)

Expected credit loss

4.2

(3,188,326)

(4,588,520)

(2,062,131)

(408,869)

(95,733)

(88,725)

Marketing and advertising
Rent and occupancy
Loss on conversion of convertible notes

5.1

(357,223)

–

Other expenses

(733,828)

(535,418)

Operating loss

(6,706,130)

(1,863,644)

(6,027,820)

(5,645,122)

(12,733,950)

(7,508,766)

Finance costs

3.2

Loss before tax
Income tax expense

3.5

Loss for the year

–

–

(12,733,950)

(7,508,766)

Foreign currency translation movements

(106,210)

(10,316)

Net other comprehensive loss that may be reclassified to profit
and loss in subsequent periods

(106,210)

(10,316)

(12,840,160)

(7,519,082)

Other comprehensive loss for the year

Total comprehensive loss for the year

Cents

Cents

Loss per share of loss attributable to the ordinary equity holders
of the Parent
Basic and diluted loss per share 1

3.3

(0.22)

(0.13)

1. The loss per share result for the reporting period ending 30 June 2020 has been adjusted to reflect the share split as described in Note 5.1.

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction
with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2021

Notes

2021
$

2020
$

Cash and cash equivalents

3.4

7,088,279

8,228,409

Receivables

4.2

44,605,197

24,828,639

Prepayments

215,399

83,402

Other assets

179,401

455,514

52,088,276

33,595,964

Assets
Current assets

Total current assets
Non‑current assets
Receivables

4.2

19,972,462

18,390,229

Property, plant and equipment

4.1

92,972

60,234

Right‑of‑use assets

4.3

160,553

240,829

48,420

54,361

Total non‑current assets

20,274,407

18,745,653

Total assets

72,362,683

52,341,617

Other assets

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

4.4

3,067,617

3,290,450

Loans and borrowings

5.2

16,739,680

6,643,625

Lease liabilities

4.3

94,724

77,342

Employee benefit liabilities

4.5

624,072

231,923

20,526,093

10,243,340

Total current liabilities
Non‑current liabilities
Loans and borrowings

5.2

33,806,894

34,591,026

Lease liabilities

4.3

83,200

177,019

Employee benefit liabilities

4.5

102,073

27,595

Total non‑current liabilities

33,992,167

34,795,640

Total liabilities

54,518,260

45,038,980

Net assets

17,844,423

7,302,637

44,505,454

21,297,765

Equity
Issued capital
Other reserves

5.1

57,731

(10,316)

Accumulated losses

(26,718,762)

(13,984,812)

Total Equity

17,844,423

7,302,637

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2021

Issued
capital
(Note 5.1)
$

Share‑based
payment
reserve
$

Foreign
currency
translation
reserve
$

9,644,900

–

–

(6,476,046)

3,168,854

Loss for the period

–

–

–

(7,508,766)

(7,508,766)

Other comprehensive loss

–

–

(10,316)

Total Comprehensive loss

–

–

(10,316)

Issuance of share capital

2,561,137

–

–

–

2,561,137

Note conversion to equity

9,340,000

–

–

–

9,340,000

–

–

–

11,652,865

–

–

–

Balance at 30 June 2020

21,297,765

–

(10,316)

(13,984,812)

7,302,637

Balance at 1 July 2020

21,297,765

–

(10,316)

(13,984,812)

7,302,637

Loss for the period

–

–

(12,733,950)

(12,733,950)

Other comprehensive loss

–

–

(106,210)

Total Comprehensive Loss

–

–

(106,210)

18,615,364

–

–

–

18,615,364

7,103,285

–

–

–

7,103,285

48,980

–

–

–

48,980

–

–

–

–

174,257

–

–

174,247

23,207,689

174,257

–

–

23,381,946

44,505,454

174,257

Balance at 1 July 2019

Accumulated
losses
$

–
(7,508,766)

Total
$

(10,316)
(7,519,082)

Transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners

Share issuance costs

(248,272)

–

–
(12,733,950)

(248,272)
11,652,865

(106,210)
(12,840,160)

Transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners:
Shares issued on initial public offering
Conversion of convertible notes
Employee shares issued
Share issuance costs
Share‑based payments

Balance at 30 June 2021

(2,559,940)

(116,526)

(26,718,762)

(2,559,940)

17,844,423

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2021

2021
$

2020
$

57,261,213

40,783,916

Payments to suppliers and employees

(14,170,735)

(7,402,232)

Payments to merchants

(70,307,594)

(51,789,508)

Notes
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Receipts from customers

Interest received

10

Interest paid

7,534

(5,319,619)

(4,851,318)

Interest paid on lease liabilities

4.3

(22,511)

(28,418)

Net cash flows used in operating activities

3.4

(32,559,236)

(23,280,026)

4.1

(111,437)

(19,498)

(111,437)

(19,498)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Net cash flows used in investing activities

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Proceeds from issuance of share capital

5.1

18,615,364

Payment of share issuance costs

5.1

(2,681,697)

Proceeds from issuance of notes payable

3.4

22,731,838

Repayment of notes payable

3.4

(6,605,000)

Payment of notes issuance costs

3.4

(453,525)

Proceeds from subordinated loans

3.4

–

Payment of related party loans

3.4

–

Proceeds from cash advance facility

3.4

–

Payment of cash advance facility issuance costs

3.4

–

Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities

3.4

Net cash flows from financing activities

16,800,000
–
(723,893)
3,550,000
(1,188)
2,718,625
(68,869)
(66,745)
24,520,795

(1,140,130)

Net foreign exchange difference

–

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

(248,272)

(76,437)
31,530,543

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

2,561,137

3.4
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(10,316)

8,228,409

7,017,454

7,088,279

8,228,409

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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1,221,271

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2021

Section 1: Corporate information
The consolidated financial statements of Payright Limited (the “Company” or the parent) and its controlled entities
(collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2021 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution
of the directors on 26 August 2021. Payright Limited is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in Australia
and whose shares are publicly traded. The registered office is located at Level 1, 55 Whitehorse Road, Balwyn, VIC 3103.
The principle place of business is located at Level 2, Suite 4, 789 Toorak Road, Hawthorn East, VIC 3123.
The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Group are described in the directors’ report.
Information on the Group’s structure is provided in Note 7.
Information on other related party relationships of the Group is provided in Note 8.1.

Section 2: Significant accounting policies
This section explains basis of preparation of our financial report and provides a summary of our key accounting
estimates and judgements.

2.1 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian
Accounting Standards Board and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis and is presented in Australian
dollars ($).

2.2 Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as at
30 June 2021. A list of controlled entities (subsidiaries) at year end is contained in Note 7.2.
The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company, using
consistent accounting policies.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee
if and only if the Group has:
•

Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee);

•

Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

•

The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group
loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated financial statement from the date the Group gains control until the date the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
All intra‑group assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.
If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, non‑controlling
interest and other components of equity, while any resultant gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any investment
retained is recognised at fair value.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
Section 2: Significant accounting policies (continued)
2.3 Significant changes in the current reporting period
Initial Public Offering
On 23 December 2020, Payright completed an Initial Public Offering (IPO) and became listed on the Australian Securities
Exchange (ASX).
Payright raised $18,515,364 through the issuance of 15,429,470 shares at $1.20 per share.

2.4 Going concern
As at 30 June 2021 the Group had consolidated net assets of $17,844,423 and incurred a loss of $12,733,948 and had net
operating cash outflows of $32,455,881 for the financial year ended 30 June 2021. It is anticipated that further losses will
be incurred by the Group during its growth phase as it continues to invest and increase its market share growing its reach
and presence in its core markets of Australia and New Zealand.
In addition to the Group’s successful equity raise from the IPO, the Group’s cash balance when combined with:
•

undrawn note facility of $19,326,664; and

•

cash flow expected to receive from current receivables of $44,605,197.

equate to an overall headroom of $66,131,608 which can be utilised to meet current liabilities that are due to be settled
within the next 12 months.
The following sources of funding have been secured during the financial period.
Australia
During the year, the Group raised $13 million through the issuance of secured loan notes (series 6 and 7) and completed
another successful pre‑IPO raising of $7 million through the issuance of convertible notes, which supported the Group’s
increased activity levels on merchant acquisition and customer acquisition strategy. The new series 7 notes has an
aggregate face value of $23 million to fund the Group’s loan book (undrawn facility of $17 million as at 30 June 2021).
New Zealand
The Group was successful in raising its NZ Series 1 loan notes, which has an aggregate face value of up NZ$3 million,
to accelerate growth in the Group’s NZ customer receivables. The undrawn note facility as at 30 June 2021 amounts
to $2,326,664 (NZ$2,500,000).
Funding arrangement
In the event where alternative funding is not successful, the Group has the ability to slow down growth in both new
customers and merchant acquisitions should it need to. The directors therefore believe that the funds available from
existing cash reserves and debt facilities would provide the Group with sufficient working capital to carry out its stated
business objectives for at least the next 12 months from the date of signing these financial statements and have therefore
prepared the financial report on a going concern basis, which contemplates that the Group will continue to
meet its commitments, realise its assets and settle its liabilities in the normal course of business.

2.5 New standards, interpretations and amendments
Several amendments and interpretations apply for the first time in 2021, but do not have a material impact on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group. The Group has not early adopted any standard, interpretation or
amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective.
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Section 2: Significant accounting policies (continued)
2.6 Terminology used
Earnings before, income tax expense, depreciation and amortisation (EBTDA) reflects profit or loss for the period
prior to including the effect of depreciation and amortisation.
Our management uses EBTDA, in combination with other financial measures, primarily to evaluate the Group’s
operating performance.

2.7 Key judgements and estimates
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made a number of judgements and
applied estimates of future events. Judgements and estimates which are material to the financial report are found
in the following notes:
Note

Section

Page

4.2

Receivables

59

6.2

Employee share plans

76

2.8 Foreign currency
The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars ($), which is also the Company’s
functional currency.
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Group’s entities at their respective functional currency
spot rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency spot rates
of exchange at the reporting date.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss. All other foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on a net basis within other operating expenses.
Non‑monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Group companies
On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Australian dollars at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the reporting date and their statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income are translated at
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. The exchange differences arising on translation for consolidation
are recognised in Other Comprehensive Income (“OCI”). On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of OCI relating
to that particular foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss.
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Section 2: Significant accounting policies (continued)
2.9 Current vs non‑current classification
The Group presents assets and liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position based on current/non‑current
classification. An asset is current when it is:
•

Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle;

•

Held primarily for the purpose of trading;

•

Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or

•

Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months
after the reporting period.

All other assets are classified as non‑current.
A liability is current when:
•

It is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle;

•

It is held primarily for the purpose of trading;

•

It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or

•

There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period.

The terms of the liability that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the issue of equity
instruments do not affect its classification.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non‑current assets liabilities.
The Group classifies all other liabilities as non‑current.

2.10 Segment information
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the Chief Executive
Officers, who are considered Chief Operating Decision Makers (CODM’s).
The Group provides services to customers and merchants in Australia and New Zealand, which commenced operations
during the year ended 30 June 2016 and 30 June 2019, respectively. While distinct geographic locations exist,
the operations in New Zealand are still in a very early growth stage. The CODM’s monitors the operating results
on a consolidated basis, and accordingly, the Group has concluded that it has one reportable segment.

2.11 Other accounting policies
Significant and other accounting policies that summarise the measurement basis used and are relevant to the
understanding of the financial statements are provided throughout the notes to the financial statements.
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Section 3: Performance for the year
This section explains our results and performance, as well as our earnings per share for the period. It also provides
selected details about our cash and cash equivalents performance for the period.

3.1 Income
Consolidated
2021
$

2020
$

Customer fees

4,106,796

2,806,615

Merchant fees

7,345,479

6,514,515

11,452,275

9,321,130

10

7,534

722,098

519,175

12,174,383

9,847,839

Fee income

Total fee income
Finance income
Sundry income
Total income

Recognition and measurement
Income including merchant fees, customer fees and interest income are recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income using the effective interest rate (EIR) method.
The Group allocated fee income over the life of the associated end consumer’s receivable balance.
Customer fees
Customer fees comprise account keeping fees, establishment fees and payment processing fees. Customer fees are
charged dependent on the plan duration and can vary depending on the terms and conditions of each plan.
Merchant fees
Merchant fees are fees paid by merchants in exchange for the Group’s payment solution services. It is derived from
the difference between the customer’s underlying sale transaction value and the amount paid to the merchant for
that transaction.
Finance income
Finance income relates to interest income earned from cash and cash equivalents.
Sundry income
Sundry income consists mainly of government support income such as JobKeeper grant income (employment‑related
government grant) and Australian Tax Office’s cash flow boost (delivered as credits to the Group’s activity statements)
totalling $458,000 (30 June 2020: $236,000). The government support income is recognised as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the related costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.
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Section 3: Performance for the year (continued)
3.2 Expenses
Consolidated
2021
$

2020
$

8,697,339

4,248,496

174,257

–

8,871,596

4,248,496

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment

78,699

48,551

Depreciation on right‑of‑use assets

80,276

80,277

158,975

128,828

6,027,820

5,645,122

6,027,820

5,645,122

Employee Benefits Expense
Salary costs
Share‑based payments

Depreciation

Finance costs
Interest expense

Recognition and measurement
Employee benefits expense
Employee benefits expense are wages and salaries, including non‑monetary benefits such as accumulating annual leave,
long service leave and employee share‑based‑payments which are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the
reporting date. They are measured as the amounts expected to be paid, when the liabilities are settled. Wages and salaries
expenses are recognised as services are incurred.
Employee entitlement benefits are recognised when the benefits are earned and are measured at the rates paid or payable.
The policy for employee benefit liabilities and share‑based payments are set out in Note 4.5 and 6.2, respectively.
Depreciation and amortisation
Depreciation and amortisation reflects the use of property, plant and equipment and right‑of‑use assets over their useful
life. Refer to Note 4.1 and Note 4.3 for further details.
Finance costs
All finance costs are expensed in the period in which they occur. Finance costs consist of interest and other costs that an
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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3.3 Loss per share
This note outlines the calculation of Loss Per Share (EPS) which is the amount of post‑tax profit attributable to each share.
We calculate basic and diluted EPS. Diluted EPS reflects the effects of the equity instruments allocated to our employee
share schemes under Payright’s share‑based payment plans.
The following table reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted EPS calculations.
Consolidated
2021
$
Loss attributable to the equity holders of the parent

WANOS1 for basic earnings per share

2020
$

(12,733,950)

(7,508,766)

58,297,034

24,285,486

Loss per share:
Basic and diluted EPS2

(0.22)

(0.13)

1. Weighted average number of ordinary shares (WANOS).
2. Basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company.

Recognition and measurement
Basic Earnings Per Share
Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.
Diluted Earnings Per Share
Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would
be issued on conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares (if any).
The adjustment for the calculation of diluted EPS in the adjacent table does not take into account 4,125,000 of shares
issued under the director options grant and 1,168,152 of shares issued under the employee options grant because they
are anti‑dilutive as at the reporting period.
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3.4 Cash and cash equivalents
Consolidated
2021
$

2020
$

Cash on hand

386

386

Cash at banks

7,087,893

8,228,023

7,088,279

8,228,409

Reconciliation of net loss after tax to net cash flows from operating activities
Consolidated
2021
$
Loss for the year

2020
$

(12,733,950)

(7,508,766)

Adjustments for:
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment

78,699

48,551

Depreciation on right‑of‑use assets

80,276

80,277

3,188,236

2,696,504

Amortisation and write‑off of borrowing costs

731,388

684,467

Share‑based payments expense

174,257

–

Expected credit losses (net of debts written‑off)

Changes in assets and liabilities:
(Increase) in receivables
(Increase) in other assets and prepayments
(Decrease)/Increase in trade and other payables
Increase in employee benefit liabilities
Net cash flows used in operating activities

(24,357,825)

(21,205,956)

(74,691)

(443,667)

(112,253)

2,326,888

466,627
(32,559,236)

41,676
(23,280,026)

Recognition and measurement
Cash and short‑term deposits in the consolidated statement of financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand
and short‑term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of three months or less, that are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the above.
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3.4 Cash and cash equivalents (continued)
Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities
At 1 July On adoption
2019 of AASB 16
$
$

2020
Notes payable(i)
Cash advance facility

(i)

Subordinated loans
Loans from related parties
Lease liabilities
Total liabilities from
financing activities

Cash
inflows
$

Cash
outflows
$

27,589,952

–

16,800,000

(723,893)

–

–

2,718,625

(66,869)

–

–

3,550,000

25,557

–

–

–

321,106

–

27,615,509

321,106

23,068,625

Non‑cash
movements
$
(8,724,402)

At 30 June
2020
$
34,941,657

68,869

2,718,625

–

3,550,000

(1,188)

–

24,369

(66,745)

–

254,361

–

860,695

(8,655,533) 41,489,012

(i) Non‑cash movements includes amortisation of borrowing costs, a debt for equity exchange where in full settlement of $9,340,000 of notes payable,
the Group issued the noteholders ordinary shares of the Company. Refer to Note 5.2 for further information.

At 1 July
2020
$

Foreign
exchange
movement
$

Cash
inflows
$

34,941,657

34,667

22,731,838

Cash advance facility(ii)

2,718,625

–

–

–

Subordinated loans

3,550,000

–

–

–

–

3,550,000

24,369

–

–

–

–

24,369

254,361

–

–

(76,437)

–

177,924

41,489,012

34,667

22,731,838

(7,134,962)

2021
Notes payable(ii)

Loans from related parties
Lease liabilities
Total liabilities from
financing activities

Cash
outflows
$
(7,058,525)

Non‑cash
movements
$

At 30 June
2021
$

(3,677,432)

46,972,205

(2,718,625)

–

(6,396,057) 50,724,498

(ii) Non‑cash movements include the issuance of convertible notes with a face value of $7,000,000 and the conversion of the Group’s existing cash
advance facility of $2,718,625 into a new secured note facility. Refer to Note 5.1 and 5.2 respectively, for further information.

3.5 Taxes
Current income tax is calculated by applying the statutory tax rate to taxable income. Taxable income is calculated as
the accounting profit adjusted for differences in income and expenses where the tax and accounting treatments differ.
Deferred income tax, which is accounted for using the balance sheet method, arises because timing of recognition of
accounting income is not always the same as taxable income. This creates temporary differences, which usually reverse
over time. Until they reverse, a deferred tax asset or liability must be recognised on the consolidated statement of
financial position.
Table 1 provides a reconciliation of notional income tax expense to prima facie tax payable. Table 2 details the amount
of deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised in the statement of financial position.
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3.5 Taxes (continued)
Recognition and measurement
Income tax expense
Our income tax expense is the sum of current and deferred income tax expenses. Current income tax expense is
calculated on accounting profit after adjusting for non‑taxable and non‑deductible items based on rules set by the tax
authorities. Deferred income tax expense is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period in which
the deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax liability is settled. Both our current and deferred income tax expenses
are calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at reporting date.
Our current and deferred taxes are recognised as an expense in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are
directly recognised in other comprehensive income or equity. In this case, our current and deferred tax expenses are also
recognised directly in other comprehensive income or equity. We generally recognise deferred tax liabilities for all taxable
temporary differences, except to the extent that the deferred tax liability arises from:
•

The initial recognition of goodwill; and

•

The initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and affects neither
our accounting profit nor our taxable income at the time of the transaction.

Table 1
Consolidated
2021
$

2020
$

Tax reconciliation
Accounting loss before income tax
Notional income tax at the statutory income tax rate of 30%
Share‑based payment expenses
Other non‑deductible expenses
Unrecognised deferred tax assets and liabilities
Total income tax expense

(12,733,950)

(7,508,766)

(3,820,185)

(2,252,630)

52,277

–

747

5,083

3,767,161

2,247,547

–

–

Deferred taxes
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carried forward unused tax losses and tax credits, can be utilised. Deferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset in the consolidated statement of financial position where they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and to the extent that we intend to settle our current tax assets
and liabilities on a net basis.
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same taxable entity and the
same taxation authority.
For our investments in controlled entities and associated entities, recognition of deferred tax liabilities is required unless
we are able to control the timing of our temporary difference reversal and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse.
For period ended 30 June 2021, deferred tax assets have been recognised up to the extent of deferred tax liabilities.
No further deferred tax assets have been recognised as the directors have determined it is not probable at this stage
that the benefit will flow to the Group.
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3.5 Taxes (continued)
Deferred taxes (continued)
Unrecognised deferred tax assets and liabilities are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax assets to be recovered and deferred tax
liabilities to be payable.
Table 2 below is a summary of the Group’s total recognised and unrecognised deferred tax assets and liabilities available
for future accounting periods.
Tax losses
The Group has unused tax losses of $5,549,762 (2020: $2,190,224). The unused tax losses whilst have been incurred,
have not been recognised by the Group as the directors have determined it is not probable at this stage that the benefit
will flow to the Group to recognise the deferred tax asset as at 30 June 2021. The unrecognised tax losses can be carried
forward indefinitely, subject to meeting the continuity of ownership or same business test.
Australian income tax consolidation legislation
Payright Limited and its wholly‑owned Australian controlled entities have implemented the tax consolidated legislation
as of 6 October 2017. The head entity, Payright Limited and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated Group continue
to account for their own current and deferred tax amounts. These amounts are measured as if each entity in the tax
consolidated Group continues to be a stand‑alone taxpayer in its own right.
Table 2
Consolidated
2021
$

2020
$

Deferred taxes
Deferred tax liabilities relate to the following:
Property, plant and equipment

(12,980)

(4,788)

ROU asset

(48,166)

(72,249)

Other assets
Total deferred tax liabilities

–
(61,146)

(35,283)
(112,320)

Deferred tax assets relate to the following:
ROU lease

53,377

76,309

Provision for ECL

1,394,867

1,192,932

Deferred income

668,264

552,446

Employee benefits

278,361

91,010

Capital raising costs

957,191

203,956

–

149,198

Unused tax losses

5,549,762

2,190,224

Total deferred tax assets

8,901,822

4,456,075

Net deferred tax assets

8,840,676

4,343,755

Development costs
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3.5 Taxes (continued)
Key estimates: current and deferred taxes
The Group’s accounting policy for taxation requires management’s judgement in assessing whether deferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are recognised on the consolidated statement of financial position.
Assumptions about the generation of future taxable profits depend on management’s estimates of future cash
flows. These depend on estimates of future sales volumes, operating costs, capital expenditure, dividends
and other capital management transactions.
Judgements are also required about the application of income tax legislation in respect of the availability of
carry forward tax losses. These judgements and assumptions are subject to risk and uncertainty, hence there is
a possibility that changes in circumstances will alter expectations, which may impact the amount of deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities recognised on the consolidated statement of financial position and the amount
of other tax losses and temporary differences not yet recognised. In such circumstances, some or all of the carrying
amounts of recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities may require adjustment, resulting in a corresponding
credit or charge to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in future periods.
Other taxes
Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except:
•

When the GST incurred on a sale or purchase of assets or services is not payable to or recoverable from the
taxation authority, in which case the GST is recognised as part of the income or the expense item or as part
of the cost of acquisition of the asset, as applicable.

•

When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or
payables in the consolidated statement of financial position. Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of
the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority. Cash flows are included in the consolidated
statement of cash flows on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising from investing and financing
activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified as part of operating cash flows.
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Section 4: Our core assets and working capital
This section describes our core long‑term tangible assets underpinning the Group’s performance and provides
a summary of our asset impairment assessment. This section also describes our short‑term assets and liabilities,
i.e. our working capital supporting the operating liquidity of our business.

4.1 Property, plant and equipment
Leasehold
Improvements
$

Office and
Computer
Equipment
$

Furniture
and Fittings
$

Total
$

45,466

78,498

7,641

131,605

–

19,498

–

19,498

45,466

97,996

7,641

151,103

Additions

–

111,437

–

111,437

Disposals

–

Cost
As at 1 July 2019
Additions
As at 30 June 2020

As at 30 June 2021

(1,490)

–

(1,490)

45,466

207,943

7,641

261,050

603

40,111

1,604

42,318

Depreciation expense for the year

1,137

46,655

759

48,551

As at 30 June 2020

1,740

86,766

2,363

90,869

18,186

60,320

193

78,699

Accumulated depreciation
As at 1 July 2019

Depreciation expense for the year
Disposals
As at 30 June 2021

–

(1,490)

–

(1,490)

19,926

145,596

2,556

168,079

As at 30 June 2021

25,540

62,347

5,085

92,972

As at 30 June 2020

43,726

11,230

5,278

60,234

Net book value
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4.1 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Recognition and measurement
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses,
if any. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of the plant and equipment if the recognition criteria are met. When
significant parts of plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group depreciates them separately
based on their specific useful lives. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying
amount of the plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and
maintenance costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
Depreciation is calculated on a straight‑line basis or diminishing value methods over the estimated useful lives of the
assets as follows:
Class

Depreciation rate

Depreciation method used

Office equipment

20 to 100%

Diminishing value

Furniture and fittings

10 to 100%

Diminishing value

Computer equipment

5 years

Straight line

Leasehold improvements

5 years

Straight line

Derecognition
An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal
(i.e., at the date the recipient obtains control) or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income when the asset is derecognised.
The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property, plant and equipment are reviewed at each
financial year end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.
Impairment
All non‑current tangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. For our impairment assessment we identify cash generating units
(CGUs), i.e. the smallest groups of assets that generate cash inflows independent of cash inflows from other assets
or groups of assets.
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4.2 Receivables
Consolidated
2021
$

2020
$

Receivables

46,804,944

27,018,517

Provision for expected credit loss

(2,199,747)

(2,189,878)

44,605,197

24,828,639

Receivables

22,577,673

20,180,787

Provision for expected credit loss

(2,605,211)

(1,790,558)

19,972,462

18,390,229

64,577,659

43,218,868

Current

Non‑current

Total receivables

Movements in the provision for expected credit losses were as follows:
Opening provision

(3,980,436)

(1,283,932)

Provided in the period

(3,188,326)

(4,588,520)

2,363,804

1,892,016

–

–

Debts written‑off

1

Foreign exchange movement
Closing provision

(4,804,958)

(3,980,436)

1. Debts written‑off during the year are not recoverable and are still subject to enforcement activity.

Recognition and measurement
Receivables are financial assets generated in the ordinary course of business. They are generally due for settlement
within 2 to 60 months. If collection of the amount is expected in one year or less, they are classified as current assets
otherwise, they are classified as non‑current assets. The Group’s model is to hold the receivables with the objective
to collect the contracted cashflows. Receivables are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently measured
at amortised cost less an allowance for impairment.
Significant increase in credit risk (SICR)
The provisioning model utilises receivables past due 30 days as the criteria to identify increases in credit risk. In the event
of the identification of a SICR, the Group no longer calculates ECL based on 12‑month probability default (PD) model but
based on lifetime PD.
Definition of default and credit‑impaired assets
A receivable is considered to be in default at 90 days past due or if it satisfies the criteria for being written off. It is the
Group’s policy to write off balances where it is unlikely to receive the outstanding amount in full based on internal or
external indicators.
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4.2 Receivables (continued)
Impairment of receivables
The Group applies the general provision approach to account for ECL on receivables measured at amortised cost.
ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cashflows due in accordance with the receivable terms
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive.
ECL on Stage 1 receivables are calculated based on the 12 months PD model. In the event of the identification of a SICR,
the Group no longer calculates ECL based on 12 month PD but based on lifetime PD. Lifetime PD leverages off the Group’s
12 month PD model and extends it to a lifetime PD where it looks forward to the contractual loan maturity to estimate
future losses expected to be incurred on its receivables. The ECL model is further adjusted to reflect current and
forward‑looking information, including macro‑economic factors that are not captured within the base ECL calculations,
which may affect the ability of the customers to settle the receivables.
At each reporting date, the Group assesses impairment risk of the receivables and movements in the ageing of outstanding
receivables to estimate the ECLs. The Group classifies its receivables into three stages and measures the ECL based on
credit migration between the stages.
Stage

Ageing

Measurement basis

Stage 1

Up to 30 days past due

Although there is usually no objective evidence of impairment in stage 1,
an ECL has been determined based on a probability of a default event
occurring over the next 12 months.

Stage 2

30 to 89 days past due

When a receivable is past due between 30 to 89 days, it is an indication
that credit risk has increased. As a result, the loss allowance for that
receivable is measured at an amount equal to the lifetime ECL. Lifetime
ECL is the expected credit losses that result from all possible default
events over the expected life of the receivables.

Stage 3

90 days or more past due

Stage 3 includes receivables aged 90 days or more past due where there
is objective evidence of impairment at reporting date. Ageing of 90 days
or more is considered to have an adverse impact on the estimated future
cash flows of the receivables.

Key estimates – provision for expected credit losses
Management estimates and judgement is utilised in measuring provision for ECLs and determining whether the
risk of default has increased significantly since initial recognition of the receivables. The Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information in determining the ECLs on its receivables.
The measurement of the provision for ECL is a result of:
•

probability of default

•

loss given default

•

exposure at default

The probability of default has been developed by analysing customer credit score (sourced from independent third
party) and days past due, against the proportion of those balances that have defaulted over time, to form a basis to
determine the PD. The loss given default is based on historical loss experienced. The exposure at default represents
the present value of the estimated customer receivable at the reporting date.
Given the ongoing market uncertainty due to the impact of COVID‑19, the Group has applied an overlay in adjusting
the results of the ECL model. Unemployment rates and GDP rates have been considered as the base overlay
parameter, this increases the degree of judgement required to assess the effects of COVID‑19 on the Group’s ECL.
However, this is reflective of the Group’s assessment on the wider macro‑economic impact on its ECL and represents
a reasonable view as at reporting date.
The Group’s ECL assumptions and methodologies are reviewed regularly.
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4.3 Right‑of‑use assets and lease liabilities
Recognition and measurement
The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
Group as a lessee
The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short‑term leases.
The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right‑of‑use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets. The Group has elected not to separate non‑lease components from lease components, and instead
account for each lease component and any associated non‑lease components as a single lease component.
Right‑of‑use assets
The Group recognises right‑of‑use assets (ROU) at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying
asset is available for use). Right‑of‑use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right‑of‑use assets includes the amount of
lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date
less any lease incentives received and an estimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and removing
the underlying asset, restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease. Right‑of‑use assets are depreciated on a straight‑line basis over the shorter
of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the assets.
Impairment
The right‑of‑use assets are also subject to impairment.
Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used
to determine such lease payments).
Short‑term leases
Lease payments on short‑term leases are recognised as expense on a straight‑line basis over the lease term.
The Group has a lease contract for its premise used in its operations. The lease contract is for 5 years. The Group’s
obligations under its lease are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased asset. The Group is restricted from assigning
and subleasing the leased assets.
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4.3 Right‑of‑use assets and lease liabilities (continued)
Set out below are the carrying amounts of right‑of‑use asset and lease liabilities recognised and the movements during
the period:
Consolidated
2021
$

2020
$

321,106

321,106

–

–

321,106

321,106

As at 1 July

80,277

–

Depreciation expense

80,276

80,277

At end of period

160,553

80,277

Net book value

160,553

240,829

254,361

–

–

321,106

22,511

28,418

(98,948)

(95,163)

Right‑of‑use asset
Cost
As at 1 July
Additions
At end of period

Accumulated depreciation

Lease liability
As at 1 July
Additions
Accretion of Interest
Payments
As at 30 June

177,924

254,361

Current

94,724

77,342

Non‑current

83,200

177,019

The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss:
Consolidated
2021
$

2020
$

Depreciation expense on ROU asset

80,276

80,277

Interest expense on lease liabilities

22,511

28,418

Expenses relating to short‑term leases

54,393

33,357

Variable lease expenses

27,968

24,487

185,148

166,539

Total amount recognised in profit or loss
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4.3 Right‑of‑use assets and lease liabilities (continued)
The Group had total cash outflows for leases of $144,278 in 2021 (2020: $153,007). The Group also had no non‑cash
additions to right‑of‑use assets and lease liabilities in 2021 (2020: nil).
The Group is exposed to potential future cash outflows related to variable lease payments and an extension option
not included in the measurement of the lease liability.
Key estimates – estimating the incremental borrowing rate
When the Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, it uses its incremental borrowing
rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the lessee would have to pay to borrow
over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the
right‑of‑use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the lessee ‘would have
to pay’, which requires estimation when no observable rates are available.

4.4 Trade and other payables
Consolidated
2021
$

2020
$

1,322,829

737,954

16,379

16,751

Accrued interest

540,192

576,660

GST payable

276,428

269,122

Contingency funds payable1

473,168

1,378,604

Other

438,621

311,359

3,067,617

3,290,450

Trade payables
Customer deposits

Total trade and other payables

1. The reduction in contingency funds balance is due to the recovery of receivables written off against the fund and the release of contingency
funds to merchants.

Recognition and measurement
Trade and other payables are financial liabilities, initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost. Due to their short‑term nature, they are not discounted. They represent liabilities for goods and services provided
to the Group prior to the end of the financial period that are unpaid and arise when the Group becomes obliged to make
future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and services. The amounts are unsecured and are usually
paid within 30 days of recognition.
Trade and other payables
Trade payables are non‑interest bearing and are normally settled on 30‑day terms.
Contingency funds payable
Contingency funds payable to merchants, due for release 3 months from settlement date. This represent a percentage
of the purchase price that the Group has withheld from settlement to cover losses incurred in the event of default.
Contingency fund is expected to wind down progressively over the next 12 months following the enhancement of
the Group’s credit management capabilities.
Accrued Interest
Accrued interest is settled quarterly or half‑yearly throughout the period.
For explanations on the Group’s liquidity risk management processes, refer to Note 5.4.
Payright Limited | Annual Report 2021

63

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
Section 4: Our core assets and working capital (continued)
4.5 Employee benefit liabilities
Consolidated
2021
$

2020
$

624,072

231,923

Long service leave

102,073

27,595

Total employee benefit liabilities

726,145

259,518

Current
Annual leave
Non‑current

Recognition, measurement and classification
The Group recognises a liability for long service leave and annual leave measured as the present value of expected future
payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date using the projected unit
credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures,
and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on corporate
bond rates with terms to maturity and currencies that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.
Where the Group expects its long service leave or annual leave benefits to be settled wholly within 12 months of the
reporting date, it classifies it as a current liability. All other long service leave or annual leave benefits are classified
as non‑current.
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Section 5: Our capital and risk management
This section sets out the policies and procedures applied to manage our capital structure and the financial risks we are
exposed to. We manage our capital structure in order to maximise shareholders’ return, maintain optimal cost of capital
and provide flexibility for strategic investments.

5.1 Equity
Share capital
Consolidated
2021
$

2020
$

44,505,454

21,297,765

Number
of Shares

Share Capital
$

At 1 July 2019

23,344,157

9,644,900

Shares issued

9,260,869

11,901,137

Authorised fully paid ordinary shares

Movements in ordinary shares

1

Share issuance costs
At 30 June 2020
Shares issued
Share Split

2

Conversion of convertible notes3
Shares issued on IPO
Employee shares issued under employee gift offer
Share issuance costs
At 30 June 2021

–

(248,272)

32,605,026

21,297,765

324,488

100,000

33,737,143

–

6,964,036

7,103,285

15,429,470

18,515,364

40,817

48,980

–
89,100,980

(2,559,940)
44,505,454

1. On 15 May 2020, the Group raised $11,901,137 of authorised share capital and accordingly issued 9,260,869 ordinary shares for $1.29 per share.
This transaction was completed in two transactions as follows:
•

Existing notes were exchanged for shares to the value of $9,340,000; and

•

Issuance of new ordinary shares of $2,561,137.

2. The Company’s pre‑IPO issued shares were split. Each shareholder of the Company will hold 2.024526 shares for each share they previously held,
with a corresponding diminution in the value of each share such that the total aggregate value of that shareholder’s holding would remain unchanged.
3. Convertible notes with a face value of $7,000,000 were issued during the reporting period. These notes plus any accrued but unpaid interest amount
were converted on the completion of the IPO. The conversion feature of the embedded derivative liability has been assessed at zero fair value.
This has resulted in a loss of $357,223 in the reporting period (30 June 2020: nil).

Recognition and measurement
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
Ordinary shares have no par value and entitle the holder to the right to receive dividends as declared and, in the event of
winding up the Group, to participate in the proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number and
amount paid up on shares held. Ordinary shares entitle their holder to one vote, either in person or by proxy, at a meeting
of the Group.
Options
Options are issued as part of Employee Options Grant and Director Options Grant. Refer to Note 6.2 for further details.
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5.2 Loans and borrowings
Consolidated
2021
$

2020
$

16,715,311

3,925,000

–

2,718,625

16,715,311

6,643,625

24,369

–

16,739,680

–

30,256,894

31,016,657

3,550,000

3,550,000

33,806,894

34,566,657

–

24,369

33,806,894

34,591,026

50,546,574

41,234,651

Current
Secured
Notes payable
Cash advance facility

Unsecured
Loans from related parties

Non‑current
Secured
Notes payable
Subordinated loans

Unsecured
Loans from related parties

Total loans and borrowings

Secured notes and subordinated notes are secured against assets of $67,817,983 (30 June 2020: $51,306,106) in Devizo
Finance Pty Ltd.
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5.2 Loans and borrowings (continued)
Notes payable
Secured notes with a gross value of $47,645,333 (30 June 2020: $35,485,000) were issued to institutional and
professional investors at fixed interest rates and are expected to be settled when due:
Drawn amount
$

Interest rate

3

6,285,000

12%

Pool B 1

5,000,000

8%

4

7,550,000

12%

19 February 2023

5

15,345,000

11%

24 May 2023

6

7,000,000

10%

31 March 2023

7

6,000,000

9.65%

Series

NZ (1)

465,333

2

10%

Maturity date1
25 July 2021
31 December 2021

26 August 2023
1 December 2023

1. The Group has unconditional right to extend maturity date of its series 4 to 7 and NZ Series 1 senior secured notes, with intention to extend given
no later than 1 month prior to the maturity date. Therefore, the contractual maturity dates to the senior secured loan notes have been extended
by a further 12 months from its original maturity dates.
Should management not exercise its option to extend the senior secured loan notes, current and non‑current classification of total loans
and borrowings would be $40,533,049 and $9,989,157, respectively.
2. Drawn amount converted from NZ$500,000 at exchange rate of 1.0745 as at financial year ended 30 June 2021 (2020: nil).

In August 2020, the Group converted its existing cash advance facility into a new secured note facility (Pool B), with the
existing charge over the Group’s assets withdrawn. This facility will be used for the purpose of funding the Group’s lending
in the Home improvement sector.
The facility has a limit of $5,000,000, which was fully drawn during the year.
In December 2020, the Group repaid $3,280,000 of its secured notes.
On 19 February 2021 and 9 March 2021, the Group repaid a total $3,025,000 of its series 1 and 2 loan notes.
On 27 August 2020 and 26 February 2021, the Group called upon the first tranche of its new series 6 and 7 notes raising
a total of $13 million. The new series 7 notes has an aggregated face value of $23 million.
In New Zealand, on 24 February 2021, the Group also called upon the first tranche of its series 1 loan notes with an
aggregate face value of up to NZ$3million, to accelerate growth in the Group’s NZ customer receivables. Tranche 1
to the value of NZ$500,000 was issued.
Loans from related parties
Loans from related parties are unsecured and have a fixed interest rate. Related party loans have been settled in full
on 30 July 2021. Refer to Note 8.4 for further information.
Recognition, measurement and classification
Loans and borrowings are financial liabilities, initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received less directly
attributable transaction costs.
After initial recognition, loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Fees which are directly attributable to the establishment of the loan facilities that are included as part of the
carrying amount of the loans and borrowings.
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for a least 12 months after the reporting date.
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Section 5: Our capital and risk management (continued)
5.2 Loans and borrowings (continued)
Derecognition
Loans and borrowings are derecognised when the obligation under the liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

5.3 Capital management
This note provides information about components of our net equity as well as our capital management policies.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, we may issue or repay debt, return capital to shareholders
or issue new shares.
The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and
to sustain operations and future development of the business. The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to:
•

safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that the Group can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, and

•

maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

A summary of the Group’s equity and debt attribution is as follows:
Consolidated
Notes

2021
$

2020
$

Shareholders’ equity

5.1

44,505,454

21,297,765

Debt

5.2

50,546,574

41,234,651

95,052,028

62,532,416

Total funding

Debt covenants
Under the terms of the major borrowing facilities, the Group is required to comply with financial covenants, including loan
value ratio. These have been complied with during the year, and as at 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020.
Refer to Note 5.2 for more information on loans and borrowings.

5.4 Financial instruments and risk management
The Group’s principal financial liabilities comprise loans and borrowings and trade and other payables.
The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to finance the Group’s operations. The Group’s principal
financial assets include receivables and cash and cash equivalents.
The Group’s underlying business activities result in exposure to operational risks and a number of financial
risks, including interest rate, market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s senior management oversees
the management of these risks whilst the Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each
of these risks.
This note summarises how we manage these financial risks.
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5.4 Financial instruments and risk management (continued)
Managing our interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market interest rates.
The Group’s exposure to market interest rates relates to the Group’s cash and cash equivalents.
At balance date, the Group had the following mix of financial assets exposed to variable interest rate risk:
Consolidated
Notes

2021
$

2020
$

3.4

7,088,279

8,228,409

7,088,279

8,228,409

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total exposure

During the 2021 financial year, the weighted average of the variable interest rate component for cash and cash equivalents
subject to interest rate risk was 0.1% (2020: 0.1%).
The sensitivity analysis is based on the interest rate risk exposures in existence at the reporting date. At 30 June,
impact of sensitivity analysis to interest rate is not material to the Group.
Managing our foreign exchange risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because of changes
in foreign exchange rates.
The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates relates primarily to the Group’s operating activities
(when income or expenses denominated in a foreign currency). The Group’s consolidated balance sheet at 30 June 2021
can be affected by movements in the New Zealand Dollar.
The Group’s current exposure to foreign exchange risk is minimal and management will continue to monitor its foreign
operations and transactions pro‑actively.
Managing our credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss. Credit
risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and credit exposures to customers through outstanding receivables.
The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from potential default of its receivables, with a maximum exposure equal
to the gross amount of the receivables.
Credit risk also arises from cash held with banks and financial institutions.
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5.4 Financial instruments and risk management (continued)
Managing our credit risk (continued)
The carrying amount of financial assets subject to credit risk at reporting date are as follows:
Consolidated
Notes

2021
$

2020
$

Cash and cash equivalents

3.4

7,088,279

8,228,409

Gross receivables

4.2

69,382,617

47,199,304

76,470,896

55,427,713

Financial assets

Total exposure

Credit risk related to receivables
The Group regularly reviews the adequacy of the provision for expected credit loss to ensure that it is sufficient to mitigate
credit risk exposure in terms of financial reporting.
Customer credit risk is managed by each business unit subject to the Group’s established policy, procedures and controls
relating to customer credit risk management. Credit quality of a customer is assessed based on an extensive credit rating
scorecard and individual credit limits are defined in accordance with this assessment. The credit score parameters are
regularly updated and adjusted to changing market conditions, to ensure losses remain within provisioning parameters
as set by the directors.
At 30 June 2021, there was an increase of $824,522 in the provision for ECL (2020: $2,696,504) predominantly from an
increase in value of gross receivables to $69,382,617 (2020: $47,199,304).
The provision for ECL was 6.9% of the gross receivables, down from 8.4% in prior comparable period:
•

representing an improvement in the underlying credit quality of the receivables book; and

•

the Group had two consecutive quarters (Quarter 3 & 4) of strong growth in the financial year where a SICR is not
apparent as at financial year end.

Credit risk concentration
Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or activities in the
same geographical region, or have economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations
to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. Concentrations indicate the relative
sensitivity of the Group’s performance to developments affecting a particular industry.
The Group deals with a large number of individually insignificant customers, as such the credit risk is spread and
not concentrated in a small number of customers. In addition, the Group focuses on maintaining a balance of its
receivables book across diversified industry groups, with any identified concentration of credit risks controlled
and managed accordingly.
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s receivable using the ECL model adopted
by the management.
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5.4 Financial instruments and risk management (continued)
Credit risk concentration (continued)
Loans receivable
Days past due

30 June 2021
ECL1 rate

2.9%

ETGCD2

65,563,697

ECL

(1,895,831)

1

Stage 3 –
Stage 2 – Aged 90 days
or more
Aged 30 to
past due
89 days
$
$

Stage 1 –
Up to 30 days
past due
$

3

59.9%

90.9%

1,815,955

2,002,965

(1,088,160)

(1,820,967)

Total
$

69,382,617
4

(4,804,958)

Loans receivable
Days past due

30 June 2020
ECL1 rate
ETGCD

2

ECL1

Stage 1 –
Up to 30 days
past due
$

Stage 3 –
Stage 2 – Aged 90 days
or more
Aged 30 to
past due
89 days
$
$

Total
$

3.6%

50.4%

70.1%

43,232,342

1,757,709

2,209,253

47,199,304

(1,549,096)

(3,980,435)

(1,545,922)

(885,417)

1. Estimated credit loss.
2. Estimated total gross carrying amount at default.
3. Included in Stage 1 ECL provision balance was a change in ECL provision of $508,971, due to the migration of financial assets in the 30 June 2020
period out of Stage 2 and 3, into Stage 1.
4. Included in Stage 3 ECL provision balance was a change in ECL provision of $443,457, due to the migration of financial assets in the 30 June 2020
period out of Stage 1 and 2, into Stage 3.

The provision for expected credit loss represents management’s best estimate at reporting date of the expected credit
losses based on their experienced judgement. A description of the credit loss model applied by the Group to receivables
can be found in Note 4.2.
There are no other provisions recorded against any other financial assets of the Group as at reporting date.
A sensitivity analysis was undertaken by increasing/(decreasing) the probability of default by 10%. This resulted
in an increase/(decrease) in the provision of ECL by $219,547 and ($226,965) respectively (2020: $167,262 and
($173,898) respectively).
A sensitivity analysis was also undertaken by increasing/(decreasing) the loss given default by 5%. This resulted
in an increase/(decrease) in the provision of ECL by $297,247 and ($297,247) respectively (2020: $255,704 and
($255,704) respectively).
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5.4 Financial instruments and risk management (continued)
Managing our liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its financial obligations.
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of credit
facilities. The Group mitigates funding and liquidity risks by ensuring it has:
•

sufficient funds on hand to meet its working capital and investment objectives;

•

is focused on improving operational cash flow;

•

has adequate flexibility in financing facilities to balance the growth objectives with short‑term and long‑term
liquidity requirements; and

•

complied with all debt covenants. Refer Note 5.2 for further information.

Liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding through an adequate
amount of committed credit facilities to meet obligations when due and to ensure there is sufficient cash allocated
to fund working capital requirements.
Management monitors rolling budgets of the Group’s liquidity reserve (comprising of any undrawn borrowing facilities
or notes commitment, as below) and cash and cash equivalents on the basis of expected cash flows and expected
cash restrictions.
The Group had access to the following undrawn loans and borrowings as at the end of the reporting period.
2021
$

2020
$

Notes

–

–

Cash advance facility

–

281,375

–

281,375

19,326,664

–

–

–

19,326,664

–

Expire within one year

Expire beyond one year
Notes 1
Cash advance facility

1. Included in undrawn loans and borrowings was an amount converted from NZ$2,500,000 at exchange rate of 1.0745 as at financial year ended
30 June 2021 (2020: nil).

The Group’s non‑derivatives financial liabilities consist of trade payable and other payables, loans and borrowings and
lease liabilities.

72

Payright Limited | Annual Report 2021

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
Section 5: Our capital and risk management (continued)
5.4 Financial instruments and risk management (continued)
Managing our liquidity risk (continued)
The carrying amounts of our financial liabilities at reporting date are as follows:
Consolidated
Notes

2021
$

2020
$

Lease liabilities

4.3

177,924

254,361

Trade and other payables

4.4

3,067,617

3,290,450

Loans and borrowings

5.2

50,546,574

41,234,651

53,792,115

44,779,462

Financial liabilities

Total exposure

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual
undiscounted payments:

On demand

Less than
3 months

3 to 12
months

1 to 5 years

Greater than
5 years

Total

Trade payables

–

1,322,829

–

–

–

1,322,829

Customer deposits

–

16,379

–

–

–

16,379

Accrued interest

–

540,192

–

–

–

540,192

GST payable

–

276,428

–

–

–

276,428

Contingency funds payable

–

–

473,168

–

–

473,168

Other payables

–

438,621

–

–

–

438,621

Notes payable 1

–

6,506,900

8,611,634

45,584,817

–

60,703,351

Loans from related parties

–

24,369

–

–

–

24,369

Lease liabilities

–

25,727

77,180

99,117

–

202,024

Cash advance facility

–

–

–

–

–

–

Total exposure

–

9,151,445

9,161,982

45,683,934

–

63,997,361

30 June 2021

1. Should management not exercise its option to extend the loan notes maturity dates, total exposure would decrease by $4,577,857.
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Section 5: Our capital and risk management (continued)
5.4 Financial instruments and risk management (continued)
Managing our liquidity risk (continued)

On demand

Less than
3 months

3 to 12
months

1 to 5 years

Greater than
5 years

Total

Trade payables

–

737,954

–

–

–

737,954

Customer deposits

–

16,751

–

–

–

16,751

Accrued interest

–

576,660

–

–

–

576,660

GST payable

–

269,122

–

–

–

269,122

Contingency funds payable

–

1,378,604

–

–

1,378,604

Other payables

–

311,359

–

–

–

311,359

Notes payable

–

1,023,363

7,409,838

38,665,550

–

47,098,751

Loans from related parties

–

–

–

–

24,369

24,369

Lease liabilities

–

24,737

74,211

201,704

–

300,652

Cash advance facility

–

2,793,480

–

–

–

2,793,480

Total exposure

–

5,753,426

8,862,653

38,867,254

24,369

53,507,702

30 June 2020
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Section 5: Our capital and risk management (continued)
5.4 Financial instruments and risk management (continued)
Valuation and disclosure within fair value hierarchy
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:
•

In the principal market for the asset or liability, or

•

In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.
A fair value measurement of a non‑financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data
are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use
of unobservable inputs.
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorized
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement as a whole:
•

Level 1 – Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

•

Level 2 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
is directly or indirectly observable.

•

Level 3 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements at fair value on a recurring basis,
the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re‑assessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole)
at the end of each reporting period.
For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the
basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy,
as explained above.
The carrying values of financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost approximate their fair value
except for loans and borrowings as at the reporting date.
As at reporting date, the fair value of loans and borrowings has been calculated by discounting the expected
future cash flows at prevailing interest rates. At 30 June 2021 the fair value of loans and borrowings is $52,442,994
(2020: $42,514,160) with a carrying value of $50,546,574 (2020: $41,234,651). The level of the fair value hierarchy within
which the fair value measurement of loans and borrowings is categorised as Level 3 (non‑market observable inputs).
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Section 6: Our people
We are working to attract and retain employees with the skills and passion to best serve our markets. This section
provides information about our employee benefits obligations. It also includes details of our employee share plans
and compensation paid to key management personnel.

6.1 Key management personnel compensation
Key management personnel (KMP) refer to those who have authority and responsibility for planning, directing
and controlling the activities of the Group. Key management personnel of the Group are those directors listed
in the directors’ report, in addition to the executive management personnel listed in the remuneration report.
KMP compensation for the financial year is shown as follows:

Short‑term employee benefits
Post‑employment benefits
Other long‑term benefits
Share‑based payments

2021
$

2020
$

1,422,795

538,698

101,508

41,546

31,669

12,254

129,083

–

1,685,055

592,498

Other transactions with our KMP and their related parties
During the financial year ended 30 June 2021, apart from transactions disclosed in Note 7.1 of the financial report.
There were no other transactions with our KMP and their related parties.

6.2 Employee share ownership plans (ESOP)
A transaction will be classified as share‑based compensation where the Group receives services from employees
and pays for these in shares or similar equity instruments.
This note summarises the primary employee share plans and the key movements in the share‑based payment
arrangements during the period.

Recognition and measurement
The cost of these equity‑settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value of the equity
instruments at the date at which they were granted. The fair value was determined by the directors and management
using an adjusted form of the Black‑Scholes‑Merton Model.
The cost of equity‑settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period
in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled (the vesting period), ending on the date on which the
relevant employees become fully entitled to the award (the vesting date).
At each subsequent reporting date until vesting, the cumulative charge to profit or loss is the product of (i) the grant date
fair value of the award; (ii) the current best estimate of the number of awards that will vest, taking into account such
factors as the likelihood of employee turnover during the vesting period and the likelihood of non‑market performance
conditions being met; and (iii) the expired portion of the vesting period. The charge to profit or loss for the period is
the cumulative amount as calculated above less the amounts already charged in previous periods where there is
a corresponding credit to equity.
Until an award has vested, any amounts recorded are contingent and will be adjusted if more or fewer awards vest than
were originally anticipated to do so. Any award subject to a market condition is considered to vest irrespective of whether
or not that market condition is fulfilled, provided that all other conditions are satisfied.
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Section 6: Our people (continued)
6.2 Employee share ownership plans (ESOP) (continued)
Recognition and measurement (continued)
If the terms of an equity‑settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified. An additional expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share‑based
payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee, as measured at the date of modification.
If an equity‑settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award and
designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new award are treated as if they were
a modification of the original award, as described in the previous paragraph.
The recognised expense arising from equity settled share‑based payment plans during the period is shown in note 3.2.
During the financial year ended 30 June 2021, the Group had the following share‑based payment plans in place:
•

Employee Gift Offer

•

Employee Options Grant

•

Director Options Grant

There have been no cancellations or modifications to any of the plans during the reporting period.
Employee Gift Offer
In consideration of providing employees with the opportunity to share the Company’s future success in performance
and growth, the Company granted 833 restricted shares per eligible employee, for nil consideration pursuant to the
terms of the ESOP.
The key terms of the employee options grant are as follows:
•

There is no initial cost to the recipient to participate in the employee gift offer, but the restricted shares will be
restricted from trading for three years from grant date whilst being employed by the Group.

•

The employee gift shares are allocated to each eligible employee with the number of restricted shares determined
by dividing the $1,000 remuneration value by the IPO offer price of $1.20.

Cessation of employment
Where an employee ceases employment with the Company during the restriction period, the employee will be entitled
to keep their shares and the dealing restriction will cease at the time of the employment ends.
Summary of Shares Issued under the Employee Gift Offer
The following table illustrates the number of, and movements in shares granted during the reporting period:
2021
Number

2020
Number

–

–

40,817

–

Forfeited during the period

–

–

Exercised during the period

–

–

40,817

–

Outstanding at the beginning of the period
Granted during the period

Outstanding at the end of the period

The assessed cost at of options granted during the financial year ended 30 June 2021 was at $1.20 per option.
In the reporting period, the Group has recognised $48,980 of employee shares issued under employee gift offer in share
capital (30 June 2020: $nil).
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Section 6: Our people (continued)
6.2 Employee share ownership plans (ESOP) (continued)
Employee Options Grant
To motivate Employees to grow the Company and share in its financial success, align the interests of employees and
shareholders, and attract and retain employees, a total of 1,168,152 options (in aggregate) was awarded to eligible
employees of the Company under the terms of the ESOP.
The key terms of the employee options grant are as follows:
•

Until the Employee Options Grant vest and ordinary shares are issued, the participant is not entitled to exercise any
voting rights attached to the Performance Rights and is not entitled to any dividend payments.

•

Vesting will occur on expiry of a three‑year term, subject to continuity of employment and the options will lapse if not
exercised upon expiry of a four‑year term after the grant date.

Cessation of employment
The Board has discretion to determine the manner in which a recipient’s unvested awards will be dealt with in the event
that they cease employment with the Company group, including to determine that some or all awards vest or lapse.
Vested rights or options must be exercised within 60 days of cessation of employment, save that where a recipient
ceases employment by reason of termination for cause or breaches restraints, vested awards will lapse.
Summary of Shares Issued under the Employee Options Grant
The following table illustrates the number of, and movements in options granted during the reporting period:
2021
Number

2020
Number

–

–

1,168,152

–

Forfeited during the period

–

–

Exercised during the period

–

–

1,168,152

–

Outstanding at the beginning of the period
Granted during the period

Outstanding at the end of the period

Fair value of options granted
The fair value is estimated using a binomial option pricing model. The following table lists the inputs to the model for
grants made:
Grant on 31 October 2020
Expiry date

31 October 2024

Exercise price

$0.63

Option life

4 years

Risk‑free rate

0.207%

Dividend yield

0%

Expected volatility*

36.0742%

* Expected volatility was calculated on the underlying security over a specified period, considering a comparable group of companies.

The assessed fair value at grant date of options granted during the financial year ended 30 June 2021 was at
$0.3638 per option.
In the reporting period, the Group has recognised $94,438 of share‑based payment expense in the statement of profit
or loss (30 June 2020: $nil).
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Section 6: Our people (continued)
6.2 Employee share ownership plans (ESOP) (continued)
Director Options Grant
The options were granted with an exercise price equal to 175% of the listing price. The premium pricing of CEO exercise
right on their Options is designed to incentivise the CEOs to promote the Company’s long‑term growth post listing and
to continue their directorship with the Company for the prescribed performance.
The options will vest subject to continuity of employment, and will vest immediately upon expiry of a three‑year period
from date of issue.
The key terms of the Director Options Grant are as follows:
•

The grant is for a fixed number of options exercisable for shares in the Company on a 1:1 basis. The number of shares
that would be acquired on exercise of the options is an aggregate total of 4,125,000;

•

Until the Director Options Grant vest and ordinary shares are issued, the participant is not entitled to exercise any
voting rights attached to the options and is not entitled to any dividend payments.

Cessation of employment
The Board has discretion to determine the manner in which a recipient’s unvested awards will be dealt with in the event
that they cease employment with the Company group, including to determine that some or all awards vest or lapse.
Vested rights or options must be exercised within 60 days of cessation of employment, save that where a recipient
ceases employment by reason of termination for cause or breaches restraints, vested awards will lapse.
Summary of Shares Issued under Director Options Grant
The following table illustrates the number of, and movements in options granted during the reporting period:
2021
Number

2020
Number

–

–

4,125,000

–

Forfeited during the period

–

–

Exercised during the period

–

–

4,125,000

–

Outstanding at the beginning of the period
Granted during the period

Outstanding at the end of the period

Fair value of options granted
The fair value is estimated using a binomial option pricing model. The following table lists the inputs to the model for
grants made:
Grant on 23 December 2020
Expiry date

23 December 2024

Exercise price

$2.10

Option life

4 years

Risk free rate

0.207%

Dividend yield

0%

Expected volatility*

36.0742%

* Expected volatility was calculated on the underlying security over a specified period, considering a comparable group of companies.

The assessed fair value at grant date of options granted during the financial year ended 30 June 2021 was at $0.1161
per option.
In the reporting period, the Group has recognized $79,819 of share‑based payment expense in the statement of profit
or loss (30 June 2020: $nil).
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Section 7: Our investments
This section outlines our group structure and includes information about our controlled entities. It provides details of
changes to these investments and their effect on the Group’s financial position and performance during the financial year.
It also includes the results of our associated entities.

7.1 Parent entity disclosures
The financial information for the parent entity, Payright Limited, has been prepared on the same basis as the consolidated
financial statements, except for the accounting of investments in subsidiaries which is accounted for at cost less
impairment, if any.
2021
$

2020
$

3,129,134

1,998,750

Non‑current assets

20,134,276

15,204,720

Total Assets

23,263,410

17,203,470

4,112,578

8,734,783

185,273

387,048

4,297,851

9,121,831

18,965,559

8,081,639

44,505,454

21,297,765

(25,714,152)

(13,216,126)

Financial Position
Assets
Current assets

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Non‑current liabilities
Total Liabilities
Net Assets

Equity
Issued capital
Accumulated losses
Share‑based payment reserve

174,257

–

18,965,559

8,081,639

Loss of the Parent

(12,498,024)

(6,824,754)

Total comprehensive loss of the Parent

(12,498,024)

(6,624,754)

Total Equity

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

The Parent did not have any guarantees in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries as at 30 June 2021 (2020: $nil).
The Parent did not have any contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2021 (2020: $nil).
The Parent has a lease commitment for its business premise. Refer to Note 4.3 for further details.
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Section 7: Our investments (continued)
7.2 Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Payright Limited as the ultimate parent,
and results of the following subsidiaries:
% of equity interest1
Name

Country of incorporation

2021

2020

Devizo Finance Pty, Ltd2

Australia

100%

100%

Devizo Finance NZ Limited3

New Zealand

100%

100%

Devizo NZ Limited

New Zealand

100%

100%

4

1. The proportion of ownership interest is equal to the proportion of voting power held.
2. The principal activities of Devizo Finance Pty Ltd is to provide technology‑enabled payments solutions for consumers through its Payright services
and businesses in Australia.
3. The principal activities of Devizo Finance NZ Limited is to provide technology‑enabled payments solutions for consumers through its Payright services
and businesses in New Zealand.
4. Devizo NZ Limited is the holding entity of Devizo Finance NZ Limited.
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Section 8: Other information
This section provides other information and disclosures not included in the other sections, for example related party
transactions and significant events occurring after the reporting date.

8.1 Related party transactions
Transactions and their terms and conditions with related parties
Loans from related parties
Loans from Brakus Private Trust (controlled by Piers Redward) and Myles Redward Family Trust (controlled by Myles
Redward) were established as a source of funding during its early stages of the Group. Refer to Note 5.2 for details to
terms of the loans.
Amounts owed to related parties are as follows:

Loan from Brakus Private Trust
Loan from Myles Redward Family Trust
Total loans from related parties

2021
$

2020
$

24,146

24,146

223

223

24,369

24,369

Receiving of services from related parties
The Group has services arrangements in place with related parties, these transactions were conducted with normal
employee, customer or supplier relationships under arm’s length dealings and on ordinary commercial terms.
Transactions with related parties are as follows:

Receiving of services from:
Key management personnel of the Group
Close family members of the directors

2021
$

2020
$

82,500

–

815,037

474,131

Key management personnel of the Group:
Matthew Pringle, in his capacity as director of Coomara Consulting provided independent advisory services to the
Company in connection with the Company’s IPO. The terms of this engagement were on an arm’s length basis on ordinary
commercial terms. Services ceased when Mr Pringle was appointed as non‑executive director on 27 October 2020.
Close family members of the directors:
•
Ashby Redward – appointed as Channel Partnership’s Manager, receives a fixed annual remuneration under an arm’s
length employment agreement on ordinary commercial terms. Employee Options of 99,202 were granted on the
same terms as those awarded.
•

Emily Redward – provided marketing and public relations services to the Company. The terms of this engagement
were on an arm’s length basis on ordinary commercial terms.

•

Nicole Redward – provided project management services to the Company. The terms of this engagement were
on an arm’s length basis on ordinary commercial terms.

•

Mark Evans provides CTO services to the Company via an independent contractor services agreement with
Specialised Resource Solutions Pty Ltd, a company of which Mark Evans is the Principal and Director. The terms
of this engagement are on an arm’s length basis and ordinary commercial terms.
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8.2 Auditor’s remuneration
The auditor of Payright Limited and its controlled entities is Ernst & Young (Australia).
Amounts received or due and receivable by Ernst & Young (Australia) for:
2021
$

2020
$

224,200

229,500

15,000

–

Category 4 – Non‑audit (other) related fees

484,096

9,707

Total auditor’s remuneration

723,296

239,207

Category 1 – Fees to the group auditor for audit and review of financial statements
Category 3 – Other assurance services

Following the 2019 Parliamentary Joint Committee and Financial Services’ Inquiry into the Regulation of Auditing in
Australia, a recommendation was made to adopt a consistent disclosure of audit and non‑audit fees. As a result, the
Group has restated the comparative period balances and disclosed audit and non‑audit fees in the following categories:
Category 1 – Fees to the Group’s auditor for auditing the statutory financial report of the Parent covering the Group,
and for auditing the statutory financial report of any controlled entities.
Category 3 – Fees for other assurance and agreed‑upon‑procedures services under other legislation or contractual
arrangements where there is discretion as to whether the service is provided by the auditor or another firm. These services
include compliance reviews and agreed‑upon procedures.
Category 4 – Fees for other services. Such services include initial public offering advisory services (this includes financial
and tax due diligence, in addition to investigative accountant’s report) and other advisory services.
The Group has processes in place to maintain the independence of the external auditor, including the nature of
expenditure on non‑audit services. EY also has specific internal processes in place to ensure auditor independence.

8.3 Commitments and Contingencies
Commitments
The Group had no capital commitments as at 30 June 2021 (2020: Nil).
Contingent liabilities
The Group had no contingent liabilities or contingent assets at 30 June 2021 (2020: Nil).
Guarantees
The Group did not have any guarantees as at 30 June 2021 (2020: Nil).
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Section 8: Other information (continued)
8.4 Events after the reporting date
Since 30 June 2021, the Group has issued additional loan notes pursuant to its Series 7 Notes Programme to both
repay the maturing Series 3 loan notes and to fund the growth in its ongoing lending activities.
On 2 July 2021, the Group called upon Tranche 2A of its Series 7 note facility (Pool A) to the value of $2,000,000.
The notes have a maturity date of 26 August 2022.
On 19 July 2021, the Group called upon Tranche 2B of its Series 7 note facility (Pool A) to the value of $4,300,000.
The notes have a maturity date of 26 August 2022.
On 25 July 2021, the Group repaid $6,285,000 of its Series 3 loan notes.
On 30 July 2021, the Group called upon Tranche 2C of its Series 7 note facility (Pool A) to the value of $2,509,000.
The notes have a maturity date of 26 August 2022.
On 30 July 2021, the Group repaid its loans from related parties to the value of $34,070. The repayment is inclusive
of both the principal and interest components of the loans from related parties.
On 9 August 2021, the Group called upon Tranche 2 of its New Zealand Series 1 note facility to the value of NZ$500,000.
The notes have a maturity date of 1 December 2022.
There were no other significant events occurring after the reporting period which may significantly affect either the
Group’s operations or results of those operations or the Group’s state of affairs.
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Directors’ Declaration
In accordance with a resolution of the directors of Payright Limited and its controlled entities, we state that:
1.

In the opinion of the directors:
a.

the consolidated financial statements and notes that are set out on pages 40 to 84 and the directors’ report,
are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
i.

giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2021 and of its performance,
for the year ended on that date; and

ii.

complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

iii. there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Group will be able to pay its debts as and when they
become due and payable.
2.

There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities;

3.

The directors have been given the declarations required by Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 from
the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer for the year ended 30 June 2021; and

4.

The directors draw attention to Note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, which includes a statement
of compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

On behalf of the directors

Piers Redward
Director

Myles Redward
Director

Melbourne,
26 August 2021

Melbourne,
26 August 2021
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Ernst & Young
8 Exhibition Street
Melbourne VIC 3000 Australia
GPO Box 67 Melbourne VIC 3001

Tel: +61 3 9288 8000
Fax: +61 3 8650 7777
ey.com/au

Independent audit or’s report t o t he members of Payright Limit ed
Report on t he audit of t he financial report
Opinion
We have audited the financial report of Payright Limited (formerly Devizo Pty Ltd) (the Company) and
its subsidiaries (collectively the Group), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 30 June 2021, the consolidated statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies, and the directors’ declaration.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations
Act 2001, including:
a.

Giving a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2021
and of its consolidated financial performance for the year ended on that date; and

b.

Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial
report section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the
financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Key audit mat t ers
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the financial report of the current year. These mat ters were addressed in the context of
our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, but we do not provide
a separate opinion on these mat ters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit
addressed the matter is provided in that context.
We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial report section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit
included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial report. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying financial report.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation
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Page 2

Provision for credit impairment
Why significant

How our audit addressed t he key audit mat t er

As described in note 4.2, Receivables generated
in the ordinary course of business are measured
at amortised cost less an allowance for
impairment. The allowance for impairment is
determined in accordance with AASB 9 Financial
Instruments (AASB 9).

Our audit procedures included the following:

This was a key audit matter due to the size of the
receivables and nature of the group’s operations,
and the degree of judgement and estimation
uncertainty associated with the calculation.
Key areas of judgement applied in measuring the
provision for expected credit losses (ECL)
include:
► The application of the impairment
requirements within AASB 9, which is
reflected in the group’s ECL model
► Identifying receivables with a significant
increase in credit risk

► Assessed whether methodologies and
assumptions used to estimate the ECL were
in accordance with AASB 9;
► Assessed mathematical accuracy of the ECL
model;
► Tested the integrity of data inputs on a
sample basis;
► Assessed reasonableness of forward-looking
information incorporated into the ECL
calculation;
► Considered the adequacy and
appropriateness of Financial Statement
disclosures; and
► We involved our Actuarial specialists in the
performance of these procedures where their
specific expertise were required.

► Incorporating forward looking information

Funding and Liquidit y
Why significant

How our audit addressed t he key audit mat t er

As described in note 2.4, the Financial
Statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis.

Our audit procedures included the following:

During the year the Group had a net operating
cash outflow and it is anticipated that further
losses will be incurred by the group during its
growth phase.
Judgment is required to determine whether an
entity is a going concern, including:

► Evaluated the Group’s going concern
assessment with reference to forecast
cashflows and supporting assumptions;
► Enquired with board and management as to
their knowledge of events or conditions that
would cast significant doubt on ability to
continue as a going concern;

► compliance with debt covenants

► Obtained borrowing agreements between
the Group and its note holders to confirm
the key contractual terms;

► ability to adjust operations should
alternative funding not be available

► Obtained direct confirmations to validate the
outstanding and undrawn balance;

This was a key audit matter due to the level of
judgement involved.

► Assessed management’s testing over
covenant compliance;

► ability to access borrowings

► Assessed the appropriateness of debt that
was disclosed as non-current; and
► Considered the adequacy and
appropriateness of financial statement
disclosures.
A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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Informat ion ot her t han t he financial report and audit or’s report t hereon
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the Company’s 2021 annual report, but does not include the financial report
and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon, with the exception of the Remuneration Report
and our related assurance opinion.
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilit ies of t he direct ors for t he financial report
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.
In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Audit or’s responsibilit ies for t he audit of t he financial report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatement s can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing St andards, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
►

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation
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►

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for t he purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

►

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

►

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

►

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

►

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial report. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions
taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
From the matters communicated to the directors, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the financial report of the current year and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these mat ters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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Report on t he audit of t he Remunerat ion Report
Opinion on t he Remunerat ion Report
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 31 to 38 of the directors’ report for the
year ended 30 June 2021.
In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Payright Limited for the year ended 30 June 2021,
complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Responsibilit ies
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the
Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.

Ernst & Young

T M Dring
Partner
Melbourne
26 August 2021

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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Additional Information
The following additional information is required by the Australian Stock Exchange Ltd in respect of listed public
companies only.
The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 31 July 2021.

1) Shareholding
a) Distribution of Shareholders Number
Total Holders

Units

% of Issued
Share Capital

1 – 1,000

435

316,153

0.35

1,001 – 5,000

654

1,773,057

1.99

5,001 – 10,000

217

1,692,289

1.90

10,001 – 100,000

318

10,761,416

12.08

100,001 – 999,999,999

116

74,558,065

83.68

1,740

89,100,980

100.00

Category (size of Holding)

Total

b) The number of shareholdings held in less than marketable parcels is 561.
c) The names of the substantial holders listed in the holding company’s register as at 31 July 2021 are:
Number of Ordinary Shares
Fully Paid Shares Held

% Held of Issued
Ordinary Capital

M REDWARD INVESTMENTS PTY LTD

8,907,914

10.00

RED & WARD INVESTMENTS PTY LTD

8,907,914

10.00

Shareholder

d) Voting Rights
The voting rights attached to each class of equity security are as follows:
Ordinary shares
Each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called, otherwise each member present at a meeting or by proxy
has one vote on a show of hands.
There are no other classes of equity securities.
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e) 20 Largest Shareholders – Ordinary Shares
Number of Ordinary Shares
Fully Paid Shares Held

% Held of Issued
Ordinary Capital

M REDWARD INVESTMENTS PTY LTD

8,907,914

10.00

RED & WARD INVESTMENTS PTY LTD

8,907,914

10.00

MR BRETT WILLIAM FISHER PATON &
MRS VICKI ANNE PATON

2,812,994

3.16

BNP PARIBAS NOMS PTY LTD

2,517,441

2.83

IRAL PTY LTD

2,211,852

2.48

RHODIUM CAPITAL PTY LIMITED

2,205,984

2.48

J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA PTY LTD

1,956,771

2.20

HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LTD (2)

1,704,342

1.91

RAPIER HOLDINGS PTY LTD

1,629,729

1.83

HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LTD

1,364,627

1.53

RIZZI PTY LTD

1,278,680

1.44

VULCANCREST PTY LTD

1,246,074

1.40

DOUBLE JAY GROUP HOLDINGS PTY LTD

1,244,475

1.40

FOWLMERE PTY LTD

1,219,062

1.37

RCSBP PTY LTD

1,218,350

1.37

MR BRETT WILLIAM FISHER PATON

1,204,362

1.35

O’BRIEN CAPITAL PTY LTD

1,177,855

1.32

O’BRIEN PENSION FUND PTY LTD

1,177,855

1.32

STUDLEIGH INVESTMENTS PTY LTD

997,033

1.12

MR RONALD MARK EVANS &
MRS JANET ELIZABETH EVANS

966,804

1.09

NORINE NOMINEES PTY LTD

884,464

0.99

CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED

796,968

0.89

Total Top 20 holders of ordinary fully paid shares

47,631,550

53.46

Total remaining holders balance

41,469,430

46.54

Name
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2) Unquoted Securities
Options over ordinary shares issued (issued under the ESOP)

Number on issue

Number of holders

5,293,152

11

Number on issue

End date of
escrow period

3) Restricted Securities
Description

Type of restrictions

Fully paid ordinary shares

ASX Mandatory Escrow

249,699

8 August 2021

Fully paid ordinary shares

ASX Mandatory Escrow

323,902

10 September 2021

Fully paid ordinary shares

ASX Mandatory Escrow

1,029,452

30 October 2021

Fully paid ordinary shares

ASX Mandatory Escrow

101,252

21 December 2021

Fully paid ordinary shares

ASX Mandatory Escrow

19,220,096

23 December 2022

ESOP director options

ASX Mandatory Escrow

4,125,000

23 December 2022

ESOP employee options

Voluntary Escrow

1,168,152

30 October 2023

ESOP gift shares

Voluntary Escrow

40,817

21 December 2023

Total

26,258,370

4) On market buy‑back
Payright is not currently conducting an on market buy‑back.

5) Use of cash
In accordance with ASX Listing Rule 4.10.19, the Company confirms the cash and assets in a form readily convertible
into cash that it had at the time of admission to the official list of ASX (being 23 December 2020) has been used in
a way consistent with its business objectives.

ASX Listing Rule 4.10.3
The corporate governance statement that meets the requirements of this rule is located on the Company’s website
https://investors.payright.com.au/investor‑centre/corporate‑governance/
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Corporate Information
Directors
Paul Samuel Cowan
Chairman and Non‑Executive Director

Piers James Redward
Executive Director

Myles Redward
Executive Director

Matthew Pringle
Non‑Executive Director (appointed 27 October 2020)

Lindley Edwards
Non‑Executive Director (appointed 27 October 2020)

Company Secretary
Payright Limited’s Company Secretary is Saara Mistry

Registered Office
Level 1,
55 Whitehorse Road,
Balwyn, VIC 3103
Phone: 1300 338 496

Auditor
Ernst & Young
8 Exhibition Street
Melbourne, VIC 3000
Australia

Share Registry
Automic Group
126 Phillip Street,
Sydney, NSW 2000
Phone: 1300 288 664

Stock Exchange Listing
Payright Limited shares are listed on the Australian Securities
Exchange (ASX code: PYR). The Home Exchange is Melbourne.
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